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“In the attempt to conduct the government of this world, there are
new elements to be considered which our predecessors had not to deal
with. We have not to deal only with Emperors, Princes, and Minis-
ters, but there are the secret leltes—an el t which we must take
wnto consideralion, which at the last moment may baffle all our arrange-
ments, which have their agents everywhere, which have reckless agents,
which countenance assassination, and which, if necessary, could produce
a massacre.”—LoED Braconsriein’s Speech at Aylesbury, Sept. 20th,
1876.

“ The secret societies of the world, the existence of which men laugh
at and deny in the plenitude of their self-confidence, as men laugh at
and deny the existence of Satan himself—the secret societies are forcing
their ewistence and their reality wpon the consciousness of those who,
until the other day, would not believe that they existed. In the year
1848 they shed innocent blood in the city of Rome ; in the year 1871
they shed innocent blood in the city of Paris. They are again as wide-
spread and as active at this moment.”—CARDINAL MANKING.
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PREFACE.

HE political history of Europe during the last
hundred years has been made, to so considerable
an extent, by the various secret associations by which
revolutions and insurrections have been prepared, that
our knowledge of it is incomplete and unsatisfactory
without some acquaintance with the agencies which,
during that period, have been incessantly at work
beneath the surface. The great European convulsion
of the last century was foreshadowed by the Tlluminati 3
the seeds of the movement which, skilfully directed
by the most able statesman of the age, has resulted
in the establishment of the new German Empire, were
sown by the Tugendbund ; the independence of Greece
is due to the Hetairia; and the extent to which the
young Italian State owes its existence to the Carbonari
and Young Italy is simply incalculable.

Much has been written concerning some of the
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associations forming the subject of these volumes, but
there is no single work dealing with the whole of
them in the careful and impartial manner which such
a subject requires; and the writers who have, at
various times, undertaken to relate the history of the
Illominati, the United Irishmen, and the Carbonan
have been far too diffuse for the general reader, while,
in most cases, their narratives exhibit the bias of
party prejudice to an extent which envelopes all their
statements in the mists of doubt. To penetrate these
mists has been a work of considerable difficulty for the
author, and in some instances he has been obliged,
after the most careful research and, in the case of the
more recent Societies, the best directed inquiries,
to leave doubtful or disputed points as he found
them.

Before the work could even be commenced, it was
necessary to have a clearly defined view of the ele-
ments which constitute a Secret Society. If we under-
stand by the words any combination of individuals
whose proceedings are conducted in secret, the defini-
tion will include organisations as widely separated
from each other by their character and objects as the
Privy Council, the fraternities of Comical Fellows and
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Independent Buffaloes, which combine conviviality
with social economy, and the societies known to our
detective police as the Liong Firm and the Forty
Thieves. Nor will it suffice for the purpose to add
to secrecy the further definition that the object of the
combination must be political. As there are Secret
Societies which are mot political, so also there have
been political associations which, though under secret
direction, are separated by broad and well-marked
distinctions from such organisations as the Carbonari
and the Hetairia.

As an illustration of these distinctions, the National
_Charter Association and the Chartist conspirators of
1839 and 1848 may be quoted most advantageously,
especially as attention has been drawn by Mr. David
Urquhart, in an article on the Chartist movement,
which appeared in July, 1873, in the Diplomatic
Review, to the great similarity which he alleges to
 have existed between the Chartist organisation, to-
wards the close of 1839, and that of the Hetairia.
After showing that the Greek association was based
on the profoundest secrecy, and that its mechanism
was admirably adapted to the end which it had in
view, Mr. Urquhart states that, “in principle and in
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fo;'m, the Chartist confederacy in its revolutionary
aspect was substantially the same; for, like the
Hetairia, it was composed of differertt grades—more
numerous, indeed, and having functions more minute
and complex than are to be found in its prototype—
all of whom, in their several degrees, were subordinate
to a secret committee of five individuals, in whose
hands the supreme power over the organisation was
concentrated. Its members were divided into divisions
and -subdivisions, and again into districts and sub-
districts ; while these last in their turn branched out
into classes and sub-classes—each sub-class being
composed, in the metropolis of five, and in the pro-
vinces of ten persons. Like the Hetairia, also, the
constitution and arrangement of the several parts of
the confederacy were such that each of these different
grades or circles was kept in ignorance of the know-
ledge which had been communicated to the one next
above it ; the connecting line of information could not
be traced upwards, while to the secret committee,
who concerted and directed the conspiracy, all
its ramifications downwards were perfectly well
known.”

1t will be seen, from the chapter on the Hetairia, -
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that there is scarcely any resemblance between the
organisation of that Society and the system described
by Mr. Urquhart, which probably was copied by the
directors of the Chartist conspiracy of 1839 from that
of the United Irishmen, which it resembles very
closely. A similar system was adopted by the
National Charter Association under the influence of .
the revolutionary excitement of 1848, the members
being divided into classes, wards, and districts. Ten
members formed a class, and ten classes a ward, the
number of wards in a district varying with local
circumstances. But these divisions did not exist in
1842, when the writer made his earliest acquaintances
amongst the Chartists, nor at any time thenceforward
until the spring of 1848 ; and neither at the latter
date nor in 1839 was there any official connexion
between the National Charter Association and ihe
revolutionary movement carried on within it, not a
single member of the Executive Council of the Asso-
ciation having, at either period, been on the com-
mittee of insurrection.

But if Mr. Urquhart had discriminated between the
National Charter Association, the objects of which
were perfectly legal and constitutional, and the con-
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spiracy to attain those objects by an insurrection, he
could not have sustained the view that Chartism and
revolution were synonymous; and if he had likened
the Chartist organisation of 1839 to that of the United
Irishmen, which it very closely resembled, instead of
that of the Hetairia, which it did not resemble, he
could not have maintained the theory of a Russian
origin on the ground that Beniowski, whom he asserts
to have been a secret agent of the Cabinet of St.
Petersburg, and one of the secret committee of the
Chartist conspiracy, was a member of the Hetairia.
That Beniowski was affiliated to the Greek Associa-
tion is very probable; that he was a secret agent of
the Russian Government is doubtful, and, as the
writer thinks, improbable ; that he was one of the five
directors of the Chartist insurrectionary movement of
1839, is disproved by the fact that he was appointed
by the secret committee to a command in Wales,

and that the appointment was subsequently re-
voked.

The National Charter Association was not, at any
time, a Secret Society ; nor did those members of the
Association who conspired in 1839 and 1848 to effect,

by force of arms, certain constitutional reforms, most
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of which have since been adopted by Parliament, con-
stitute a Secret Society in the sense in which that
character attaches to the Societies whose history is
related in the present work. The author was
acquainted, more than a quarter of a century ago, with
men who had participated in the movement of 1839,
and, though informed by them of the objects and
plans of the conspirators, never heard the slightest
allusion to an oath of secrecy and fidelity, an initiatory
ceremony, symbols, pass-words, grips, or any other of
the distinctive marks of a Secret Society ; and he can
affirm from personal knowledge that nothing of the
kind existed among the Chartist conspirators of
1848. '

If we accept as the test by which a Secret Society,
as the term is generally used and understood, may be
distinguished from other combinations, the adoption of
an oath of secrecy and fidelity, an initiatory ceremony,
and the use of symbols, pass-words, grips, &c., the
associations to which this character applies may be
divided into three classes, which are separated from
each other by well-defined lines of demarcation. They
may be broadly characterised as political, agrarian,
and provident societies; the Illuminati, Philadel-
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phians, and Carbonari being types of the first class,
the Defenders, Whiteboys, and Ribbonmen of the
second, and the Odd Fellows, Foresters, and Druids of
the third. Of these three classes of Secret Societies, the
first alone can be reckoned among the forces which
have produced the European revolution which has been
in progress during the last hundred years, and is still
incomplete.

The author has endeavoured to make the present work
as complete as the nature of the subject renders pos-
sible, and believes that it includes every Secret Society
of the political class which has existed during the last
hundred years. He has not, in the performance of his
task, relied solely upon the published memoirs of the
Illuminati, the United Irishmen, the Carbonari, and
~ the Hetairia, which, with a few exceptions, have been
written by men who were not affiliated to those Socie-
ties, but has drawn to a considerable extent upon the
store of materials which he succeeded in collecting
from private sources during more than thirty years’
experience of political agitation and journalism, which
brought him into connexion, especially during the
earlier years of that period, with political refugees
from almost every part of Europe. In the use of the
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knowlege thus acquired some caution was necessary,
and nothing has been admitted without a careful
examination by the light of ascertained facts. Though
by such tests he has somewhat reduced the amount of
matter which less care would have enabled him to
produce, the writer has the satisfaction of knowing
that he has admitted no statement which he has not
every reason to regard as the truth.
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THE

SECRET SOCIETIES

OF

THE EUROPEAN REVOLUTION.

INTRODUCTION.

THE descent claimed by or for certain of the secret
societies which have exercised so much influence
upon the political progress of Europe during the last
hundred years from similar associations of a much
earlier date, constitutes one of the most interesting of
the problems which engage the attention of the
student of history. Starting from the earliest secret
association of medizval times, that of the Assassins
of -the East, we find society after society claiming
descent from one or other of its predecessors, and, in
comparatively recent times, an unbroken series of such
societies, appearing under different names, but having
the same objects, and consisting in many instances of
the same individuals. This latter state of things
will be explained in its proper place; in these intro-
ductory pages I desire only to show how the medizeval
societies are supposed to have been connected, and
how those of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries
VOL. I. B
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have connected themselves with the associations of the
Middle Ages.

Freemasonry, which has furnished the organisation
and the symbolism of many of the secret societies of
modern times, claims to be descended from, and to
have continued, those of the Middle Ages. This claim
has been made for the Order in respect both of the
Templars and the Rosicrucians; and the alleged
affiliation of the Templars to the Assassins completes
the genealogical tree by indicating the quarter in
which we are to seek its roots. Leaving for future
consideration the question of the relationship of the
Tlluminati to the Freemasons, I propose in this place
to state the evidence that exists of the alleged descent
of the former from the Templars, and of the connexion
of the last-named Order with the Assassins; and it
will be necessary to preface this statement with a brief
account of the origin and development of the mysterious
association which arose at Cairo in the eleventh cen-
tury, and at one time threatened to dominate the
Moslem world.

At the time when the Visigothic monarchy in Spain
was succumbing to the growing power of the Saracens,
there lived at Ahwaz, in the south of Persia, one
Abdallah, who had conceived the idea of subverting
the rule of the Khalifs by secretly disseminating
among the faithful the pantheistic tenets which seem
to underlie both the theology of the Zend Avesta and
that of the Vedas. There is not, however, much
known of this Abdallah. D’Herbelot does not notice
him, and Von Hammer’s* account of him was derived

#* (Geschichte der Assassinen.
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from Macrisi, a writer of the fifteenth century, whose
Oriental authorities are now inaccessible. Carmath,
a native of Syria, in which country Abdallah died, is
said to have extended his views, and continued their
propagation ; and some historians regard him as the
founder of the system. He maintained that the pre-
cepts of the Koran should be understood in a figura-
tive sense; thus prayer signified obedience to the
Imaum Maidssoom, an ideal spotless prince, whose
followers were to hurl all the princes of the earth
from their thrones ; fasting was keeping the secrets of
the Society ; almsgiving was augmenting its funds.
For a whole century war was waged, with varying
success, between the Carmathites and the troops of
the Khalifs, the former being at length vanquished,
and their name extinguished.

They were not yet stamped out, however, when a
secret association, the members of which adopted the
distinctive white garments of the Carmathites in their
assemblies, was formed at Cairo for the propagation
of the same tenets. According to the accounts pre-
served by Macrisi, aspirants were in these assemblies
conducted through nine degrees of mental illumina-
tion, the latter of which remind us in some degree of
the revelations made to the initiated in the mysteries
of Eleusis. In the first degree they were perplexed
by captious questions, which seemed designed to ex-
pose the absurdities of the Koran, when literally
understood, and to prepare the mind for interpreta-
tions more consonant with reason. They were then
required to bind themselves to the Society by a solemn
oath of obedience and secrecy, after which the recog-

B2 L
'
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nition of the Imaums appointed by God as the sources
of all knowledge was inculcated.

To students of the third degree the number of the
Imaums—the mystic seven—was revealed. In the
-fourth they were taught that God had sent seven law-
givers to man, the mission of each being to improve
the system of his predecessor, and adapt it to the
altered conditions of society; and that each of these
had seven helpers, who had appeared in the intervals
between the eras of the lawgivers. The seven
divinely-commissioned legislators were Adam, Noah,
Abraham, Moses, Jesus, Mahomed, and Ismael, the
son of Jaaffer; the seven helpers were Seth, Shem,
Ishmael, Aaron, Simon, Ali, and Mahomed, the son
of Ismael. Von Hammer observes that, as the last-
named personage had not been dead more than a
century, the teacher was enabled to fix upon whom
he would as the prophet to be believed in and obeyed
by all who had not got beyond this degree. Students
in the fifth degree were taught that each of the
helpers had twelve apostles to assist him, and the
appropriateness of that number was shown by mystical
analogy. :

The sixth degree carried the illumination of the
aspirants a step further. They were now taught
that nothing in the Koran was positive that was un-
supported by philosophy, and a long course of in-
struction in the systems of Plato and Aristotle was
gone through. In the seventh degree instruction was
given in the mystic pantheism of the Soofees. There
would seem to have been no need to carry the incul-
cation of subversive doctrines further than this; and
the system of Abdallah is said, indeed, to have been
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comprised in seven degrees. But Macrisi affirms that
there was an eighth degree, in which the initiated
were told that prophets and teachers were nothing,
and heaven and hell an idle dream ; and a ninth, still
more superfluous, which taught that nothing was to
be believed, and that everything might be done.
De Sacy* was of opinion, however, that the Arabic
words Zaleel and ¢bakat will not bear the construction
put on them by Macrisi and Von Hammer. The
former, he says, signifies only that God is a merely
speculative being ; and the latter, emancipation from
the injunctions concerning prayer, fasting, &c., but
not from moral obligations.

It is unnecessary to the present purpose that the
history of the remarkable Society that arose from
these beginnings should be related, even in a merely
cursory manner. It is sufficient to say of the Society
at Cairo that the initiated multiplied rapidly, and in
1058 were strong enough to seize Bagdad, and hold it
for more than a year. From that time, however,
it declined, and in 1128 it was forcibly suppressed.
In the meantime, however, Hassan Sabah had orga-
nised a similar society in Syria, rejecting the last two
degrees of the Ismaelite Society at Cairo, and institut-
ing an Order of Fedavee (devoted), the members of
which do not appear to have participated in the mystic
pantheism of the higher order of the initiated, but to
have remained subject to the positive precepts of the
Koran. To these was assigned the task of murdering
those who were denounced to them by their chief; and
hence the name of Assassins, by which the initiated

#* Journal des Savants, 1818.
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became known in Europe, though in Asia they were
called Oriental Ismaelites, to distinguish them from
those of Egypt.

Hassan Sabah captured by stratagem the strong
fortress of Alamoot, in the north-west of Persia, in
1090, and one of his lieutenants seized the fortress of
Moominabad soon afterwards. During one of the
frequent civil wars of that period, the Order continued
to seize fortress after fortress, and to extend and con-
solidate its power. In vain were anathemas ful-
minated against the Assassins, and the sword of jus-
tice invoked for their extermination. Strong in their
secret organisation, they defied alike ecclesiastical
censures and civil processes, and the daggers of the
Fedavee avenged those whom the sword of justice
struck down. Against such enemies even armies were
no protection, and every ruler in Asia trembled on
his throne.

Within thirty years after the capture of Alamoot by
the Assassins, the Order of the Knights Templars was
founded, and between these two Orders a secret con-
nexion has been alleged to have existed. Von Ham-
mer not only traced in the latter a resemblance to the
former, but asserted that two of the knights who
formed the nucleus of the Temple Order were secretly
affiliated to the Assassins. Absolute proof of this
connexion never has been adduced, but it must be
remembered that the Assassins were a secret associa-
tion, and, as the Templars undoubtedly had a similar
organisation, as well as similar aims, positive evidence
is not to be expected. All that can be done towards
the solution of an undoubted historical puzzle is to
relate those points in the history of the two Orders
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which afford grounds for the conclusion arrived at by
Von Hammer.* :

The Order of the Temple originated with nine
knights, then in Syria, who took upon them monastic
vows, and engaged also to defend the Temple of Jern-
salem against the Moslems. Hugh de Payens, the
founder of the Order, returned to Europe to enlist sup-
port, and reappeared in Syria ten years later, at the
head of three hundred knights of the noblest families
of Europe. They wore white mantles with a red cross
on the breast. Tt may be no more than a coincidence
that the Assassins also wore white garments with a red
girdle. The banner of the Templars was first un-
furled in that unfortunate expedition to Damascus, in
which they acted in alliance with the Assassins, and
of which Von Hammer accuses Hugh de Payens of
being the chief instigator. The Assassins were at
that time desirous of securing a position on the coast,
and a secret treaty was concluded between Abu-al-
Wefa, their agent at Damascus, and Baldwin IL,
King of Jerusalem, by which the former engaged to
betray Damascus to the Crusaders, and the latter to
place Tyre in the hands of the Assassins. The Cru-
saders were to assemble secretly, and appear before
Damascus on a Friday, when the Emir and his officers
would be at prayers in the mosque. The treachery of
Abu-al-Wefa was opportunely discovered, howerver,
and the Emir, having put to death both his vizier
(who was in the plot) and the Ismaelite agent, and
massacred all the Assassins in Damascus, to the
number of six thousand, sallied from the city, attacked

# Fundgruben der Orient
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the Crusaders, and completely routed them. In con-
sequence of this defeat, the Ismaelite governor of the
Castle of Banias placed it in the hands of the Crusaders,
in order to avail of the protection of the latter, and
thus escape the fate of his brethren in Damascus.

That the Templars and the Assassins more than
once co-operated, and that the former pursued their
secret purpose with as little regard for Christians as
Moslems, is undeniable. The raising of the siege of
Damascus by the Crusaders has been attributed to
the treachery of the Templars, and at the siege of
Ascalon, which also miscarried through the opposition
of the latter to the other forces engaged in ift, the
Templars actually held the breach against the Chris-
tians, in order to monopolise the spoil. Two years
later, when the Ismaelite Khalif of Egypt was
slain by his vizier, and the latter was flying across
the desert from the vengeance of the people, a
body of Templars attacked and routed his escort near
Ascalon, slew him, seized his treasure, and sold his
son to the family of the murdered Khalif for sixty
thousand pieces of gold, though he had expressed a
desire to become a Christian, and tortures and death
awaited him in Egypt.

During the Grand Mastership of Philip of Naploos,
the Templars again evinced their sympathy with the
Egyptian Khalifate by protesting against the expedi-
tion against it of Almeric, King of Jerusalem, and
refusing to take part in it; and in 1167, when
Almeric entrusted to them the defence of a strong
position on the Jordan, they capitulated to the
Moslems, though the king was hastening to their
relief. This treachery—for we cannot suppose it



INTRODUCTION. 9

cowardice—led Von Hammer to the conclusion that
the annual tribute which the Assassins paid to the
Templars at this period was really secret service
money applied to the reward of the latter Order for
their assistance on this and other occasions.

The power and influence of the Assassins reached
their zenith at the beginning of the thirteenth century,
when the Christian power in the East was waning
fast; and it is just at this time that we find the
struggle commencing between the Templars, who
now had preceptories and estates in every European
country, and the princes of the West. In 1208, Pope
Innocent III. passed a public censure on the Order,
in an epistle to the Master, in which he said that,
though they bore the Cross on their breasts, they
cared not to follow Christian doctrine ; and that they
admitted to the Order scoundrels of every degree,
who, when they died, received honourable burial in
their cemeteries, though they might be under eccle-
siastical interdict for adultery and other offences. The
Papal censure was disregarded by the Templars, and,
though they professed obedience to the Pope’s legate
in 1219, when he headed the expedition against Da-
mietta, it was really they who directed the legate.
When the Emperor Frederic 1I. undertook a crusade
into Egypt, they exerted all their influence to render
it a failure, and even betrayed his plans to the Egyp-
tian Sultan. The Emperor revenged himself upon the
Order by seizing all their estates in Italy and Sicily,
and the Templars retaliated by dispossessing the Teu-
tonic knights of their possessions in Syria.

About this time the Templars entered into an alli-
ance with the Emir of Damascus against the Hospi-
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tallers, and in 1259 a battle was fought between the
two Orders, in which the former were completely
routed. They seem at this time to have been medi-
tating a final retreat from Syria, where the Turks
were bearing down all opposition; and, after the
storming of Acre, the last stronghold of the Chris-
tians in Syria, they carried the design into execution.
But in Europe they were already in odium, with the
princes because the Order menaced their absolute
power, with the clergy on account of their indepen-
dence and their suspected heresies, with the masses
for their licentiousness. Their opposition to the pro-
position of Pope Clement V. for a new crusade, and
their amalgamation with the Hospitallers, swelled the
storm that was rising against them. Charges were
made against them, that they were a secret society ;
that they repudiated and reviled the doctrines of
Christianity ; that they held the heresy of the
Gmostics, and contemned the authority of the Church ;
that their lives were licentious and abominable.
Thereupon all the Templars in France were arrested,
and all the property of the Order in that country was
confiscated by anticipation. The same course was
taken shortly afterwards in almost every country
where they had preceptories.

The depositions that were taken in the course of
the proceedings that were followed by the suppres-
sion of the Order are far from satisfactory. The arti-
cles of accusation were absurd and contradictory. The
confession attributed to Molay, the last Grand Master,
was disowned by him; and though the Bull of Cle-
ment V., in which it was cited, is dated August 12th,
1309, the confession is said to have been made on the
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festival of the Assumption, which was four days
later !* The confessions of the knights were extracted
by torture, and many of them retracted. Of the
charge of being connected with the Assassins, nothing
was said; for the power of that Order had been
crushed, in Persia by the Mongol Khans, and in Syria
by the Mameluke Sultan of Egypt, Beibars, and
Europe had nothing to fear from it. The charges
that were made were supported by evidence that
would not be considered sufficient for conviction by
any modern jury ; and even Clement V. acknowledged
that it amounted only to suspicion.

Wilcke, though he acquits the Templars of being
an offshoot of the Assassins, regards them as a secret
Order, and believes that they held the mystic doc-
trines of the Gnostics. Opinion seems to be evenly .
balanced upon the point of secrecy, but their -history
affords abundant evidence that, whether or not they
were bound to secrecy by an oath, they had secret
aims, to which they were moved by springs of action
unknown to the outer world. They manifested upon
several occasions contempt for the authority and for
the rites of the Church, and a general indifference to
religion ; and there is evidence enough of their trans-
actions with the Assassins, and their alliances at a
later period with Moslem princes, to show that their
aim was less the defence of Christianity than the
advancement and glorification of their own Order.
Like the Assassins, they aimed at independent power,
at the erection of a State within a State, and they
seemed to have failed to achieve their purpose only

# Henry, Hist. Eccles., lib. xci.
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because their schemes were too vast, and their forces
too much diffused for their accomplishment.

The evidence of the descent of the Masonic Order
from the Templars is vague and misty. The claim
was first advanced in 1740 by Andrew Ramsay,* a
Scotchman domiciled in France, and an adherent of
the Chevalier St. George. There has always been
cherished by the Freemasons some tradition assign-
ing to their Order extreme antiquity, one of these
carrying back the date of its origin to the building of
Solomon’s Temple; and Ramsay, without adducing any
evidence in support of the hypothesis, suggested that
the Order originated at the time of the Crusades. The
idea assumed a tangible form in the higher degrees of
Masonry which were founded by Ramsay, and thus
received the encouragement necessary for its develop-
ment. We next meet with it in what is known as
the Swedish system of Masonry, described by Findel
as a mixture of the Masonic, Rosicrucian, and
Templar systems, and the foundation of which is
attributed to Gustavus III., who is said to have been
actuated in its introduction and dissemination by
political motives.

Most, if not all, secret societies have a discourse on
their origin and objects which is read or orally de-
livered to members on their initiation, or prefixed to
their printed rules ; and this applies to such Orders as
the Freemasons and the KForesters, as well as to
political societies, like the Illuminati and the Car-
bonari. That of the Swedish system of Masonry
sets forth that there have been, from the beginning of

# Findel's History of Freemasonry.
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the world, men who have worshipped the one God in
spirit and truth, and preserved that esoteric doctrine
as a mystery, handed down from one generation to
another. In the time of the Crusades, seven Syriac
Christians, whe had inherited that truth from the
Essenes, flying from the Saracens, were rescued near
Bastrum by a froop of Templars, and received pro-
tection from the Order. At their own request they
were allowed to reside with the chaplains of the Order
at Jerusalem, amongst whom they were afterwards
admitted, and to whom they imparted their secrets.
These remained with the Templars ever afterwards,
the existence of the priestly members of the Order not
being affected by its suppression, as they could not be
reached by the secular arm. Some of them proceeded
to Scotland, and founded a chapter of the Order at
Aberdeen, of which Peter of Bologna was the first
prior. From thence the revived Order was extended
to the European Continent, where it existed in several
countries in secret until it was merged in the
Masonic Order.

When the Masonic convention: was held at Wil-
helmsbad, in 1781, Ditfurth, the delegate of the
‘Wetzlar lodges, pronounced the evidence of the deri-
vation of the Order from the Templars perfectly satis-
factory ; and, after much discussion, it was resolved :—

“That the connexion with the Order of the
Temple was maintained by means of historical in-
struction, imparted in a special class of the Order,
which at the same time was charged with the regula-
tion of the inferior degrees, and had the name of
Beneficent Knights bestowed on them ; and that all
Prefects and Provincials had it entirely at their own
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discretion, should special circumstances demand it, and
if it could be done without prejudice to the whole
confederation, to leave this degree entirely on one side,
and make no use of it at all.”

The tradition of the perpetuation of Templarism in
the Masonic Order has been repeated in various forms,
all agreeing, however, in the statement that a remnant
of the Temple Order found a refuge in Scotland. One
version is that seven knights eluded the persecution
of the Order, and escaped to the isle of Mull, where
they found another of the brethren, named Harris.
These formed the nucleus of the revived Order, the
members of which worked as masons; but the story
does not make it clear whether they communicated
- their secrets to their fellow-craftsmen, and thus
originated the Masonic Order, or grafted them upon
a secret system already existing. The early history
of Masonry is so misty and dim that the separation
of the facts from the fictions in which they are em-
bedded is not only a very difficult task, but one that
cannot be performed with a perfectly satisfactory
result.

Wilcke relates the story more in detail, but only
for the purpose of demolishing it. As it is thus told,
Peter of Bologna, the chief chaplain of the Temple
Order, escaped from prison, and found refuge with
Hugh, Wildgrave of Salm, who was a Commander of
the Order. This asylum being insecure, he fled to
Scotland, accompanied by Silvester of Grumbach, and
found there Harris, a Grand Commander,and Aumont,
the Marshal of the Order. These four committed the
secrets of Templarism to the Freemasons. Against
the credibility of this story it is urged by Wilcke that
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nothing is known concerning the movements of Peter
of Bologna after his escape from prison ; that tradition
has made two knights of one—namely, Comes Silvester,
Wildgrave of the Commandery of Grumbach; that
Hugh of Salm, Wildgrave and Commander of Grum-
bach, died a prebend of the Cathedral of Mentz ; that
the names of Harris and Aumont do not occur in any
authenticated history of the Templars; and that the
last Marshal of the Order, whose name is unknown, was
left by Molay in Cyprus where the Order was not
disturbed.

These objections do not effectually dispose of the
story. 'We must expect to find discrepancies and im-
perfections in relations of the kind, however solid may
be the foundation upon which the tradition has been
built up. That Peter of Bologna did escape from
prison is admitted; the fact that nothing is well
attested concerning his subsequent movements does
not prove that he did not find a refuge in Scotland.
The mystery in which his after life is enveloped may
just as fau'ly be urged in support of the tradition,
since, as it is not known where he found a refuge, it
is as reasonable to assume that he went to Scotland
as that he did not. On the same principle, the fact
that the names of Harris and Aumont are unknown
must not be regarded as a proof that they were not
on the roll of the Temple Order at the time of its sup-
pression. About eight hundred names are mentioned
in the records of the judicial proceedings against the
Templars, and the greatness of the number has been
regarded by Masonic authors who reject the tradition
as evidence of the non-existence of Harris and Aumont;
but it would be just as fair, in view of the many
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thousands whom the Temple Order numbered in its
ranks, to argue that, because certain names are not on
the muster-roll of the Guards, there are no soldiers of
those names in the British army.

Neither, as it seems to me, should the tradition of
the perpetuation of the Temple Order in Freemasonry
be discredited on the ground of there being a secret
Order of Templars, whose chief seat is in Paris, and
whose preceptories exist in many towns of France and
other countries, including England, claiming to have
preserved the statutes, archives, and banners of the
Order, and to have had an unbroken series of Grand
Masters from the time of Molay. It must be borne
in mind, that the knights remained as individuals
when they were suppressed as an Order, and that,
though many of themn were received into other Orders
on the same footing as they had stood in that of the
Temple, a considerable number were refused this
favour, or declined to avail of it. Some of these may
have formed the nucleus of the secretly continued and
unauthorised Order, the Grand Mastership of which is
said to have been held by Bertrand du Guesclin, and
several of the Montmorencies and Bourbons; while
others, who did not consider themselves safe in France,
may have sought refuge in such remote corners of
Europe as the island of Mull.

According to the “ Manuel des Templiers,” Molay,
just before his execution, nominated as his successor
one Larmenius, who mustered the scattered members
of the Order, and secretly reorganised them. Finding
that the refugees in Scotland had deviated from
the rules of the Order—which may be understood as
applying to their proceedings in connexion with the
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Freemasons—he excommunicated them. In 1324
he committed the office of Grand Master to Francois
Thomas Alexandrinus by deed, and this document
has been the subject of much controversy. It is
written in three columns, on a large sheet of parch-
ment, and, according to Gregoire,* has the appearance
of such extreme antiquity that there can be no doubt
of its genmineness. Wilcke says, on the other hand,
that the Latin is not that of the fourteenth century,
and that such an appointment would have been con-
trary to the Temple rules. The former objection is
entitled to more weight than the latter; for, though
the deed is undoubtedly at variance with the statutes
of the Order, the illegality, or rather irregularity, is no
more proof that the document is a forgery than the
absence of attesting signatures to a will would be a
proof that the testament was a forgery.

It must equally be admitted that the alleged nomi-
nation of Larmenius by Molay would have been
invalid ; but some allowance may be made for the
difficulties of the situation, which would account for
some other circumstances which have been regarded
as evidence of the fraudulent character of the claim
which the modern Templars have advanced. It is
obvious that an election according to the statutes of
the Order was impracticable, and, though the execution
of Molay’s will has been considered equally so, the
manner in which despatches have been conveyed in our
own time—in India during the revolt of 1857, for
instance—may be referred to as one only of many
modes in which similar difficulties have been over-

* Histoire des Sectes Religeuses.
VOL. I ' c
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come. The objection that the name of Larmenius is
unknown is stronger than in the cases of Harris and
Aumont, because the names recorded in the procés-
verbauz may be supposed to include those of all the
most notable of the French Templars ; but Larmenius
may not have been a Frenchman, or he may have been
selected for the very reason that he was beyond the
reach of the prosecution. -

Very little weight seems to me to attach to the
objection that the adherents of Hugo of Peyraud,
grand prior to the Order in France, were very nume-
rous, and would not have acquiesced in the
nomination of Larmenius by Molay. Hugo was
suspected of having precipitated the downfall of the
Order by disclosures concerning it, to which he was
impelled by disappointed ambition ; and it may readily
be conceived that he did not acquiesce in Molay’s
choice of a successor, and also that Larmenius did
not succeed in rallying around him all the knights
who were not received into other Orders. The story
only requires us to believe that the Order continued
to exist in secret after the execution of Molay. It is
a much more serious objection that the roll of the
grand masters from Molay to the present time bears
suspicious marks of forgery. The signatures before
Brissac’s in the eighteenth century appear to have been
written by the same hand, and they include one pur-
porting to be that of Bertrand du Guesclin, who
could not write.

The difficulties which surround the investigation
of the origin and history of the secret societies of the
last hundred years are so much greater in respect of
those which claim to date from the Middle Ages, when
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records were more liable to be lost or destroyed, that
no surprise or disappointment can be felt at the
absence of conclusive evidence of the connexion
alleged to have existed between the Templars and. the
Freemasons, and between the latter and the Rosicru-
cians, or Brethren of the Rosy Cross. Masonic
writers of the present day repudiate the connexion,
but there is abundant evidence that it was an article
of faith with the Continental Masons during at least
the latter half of the last century. Findel asserts
that the Templars “sneaked into the Order, like the
Jesuits and the Illuminati,” and asks why they main-
tained a separate existence for four hundred years, by
the side of the Masonic Order, before they claimed
kinship. ~ The question is evidently intended to
throw discredit on the alleged descent of Masonry
from Templarism ; but the previous assertion weakens
its force by admitting the existence of the latter sys-
tems in the middle of the eighteenth century, while
it ignores the important difference between the Tem-
plars and the other Orders mentioned, that the latter
neither claimed kinship with the Freemasons, nor
were admitted to form higher degrees in that Order, as
the Templars were.

The separate existence of Templarism cannot be
received as evidence against the connexion of the two
Orders, in view of the like state of things in respect of
the Freemasons and the Rosicrucians. Find e omits
to explain the existence of the Rosicrucian degree in
the Masonic Order; he does not tell us that the
Rosicrucians sneaked into the Order. Yet the latter
Order, equally with the Templars, has maintained a
separate existence by the side of Freemasonry for

c2
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nearly four centuries. Christian Rosencreutz died in
1454, and a periodical publication devoted to astrology
and other occult lore of the like kind, and which had
a brief existence about thirty years ago, stated that
the Order of the Rosy Cross was not wholly extinct even
then, and had many members in England, as well as
on the Continent. It would seem therefore that the
Freemasons of the present day repudiate the Templars
only on account of the alleged affiliation, which claim
has not been set up on behalf of the Rosicrucians,
though Freemasonry is not generally credited with a
greater antiquity than the seventeenth century, at the
beginning of which the Order of the Rosy Cross first
became known.

The Carbonari claim descent from the Kohlen-
Brenners of Germany; but it may be regarded as
certain that no Carbonaro ever knew anything more
of the genealogy than the dim traditions which are
known to all who have studied the under-currents of
political progress. It is said that the charcoal burners
of Germany formed themselves into an association for
mutual assistance, and recognised each other by secret
signs and pass-words. Their secrets, and the oath
which bound them to each other, were called the Faith
of the Kohlen-Brenners. Important services rendered
to the Order sometimes obtained admission into the
society for persons of rank. The organisation must
have had an early origin, for Theobald de Brie, who
is said to have been one of the honorary members,
died in 1066, and, being canonised, became the patron
saint of the society—a circumstance which led to
his adoption in the same capacity by the modern
Carbonari.
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The association in the course of time acquired more
consistency, and extended its ramifications into France,
Flanders, and Holland. Francis I. is said to have
been initiated into its secrets when, being separated
from his company in the chase, and benighted in an
* extensive forest, he shared the hospitality of some of
its members. The French branch is alleged to have
existed in the mountains of the Jura down to the
close of the last century, and several members of the
provincial parliaments are said to have been enrolled
in it between the years 1770 and 1790. The members
were called Good Cousins, as the Carbonari afterwards
called each other in their lodges.

‘Whatever may be thought of the evidence of the
affiliation of the modern secret societies to those of
the Middle Ages, there is no reason for doubting that
the descent of the Freemasons from the Templars, and
of the Carbonari from the Kohlen-Brenners, has been
honestly believed by at least past generations of the
modern societies. It is rarely, if ever, that more
than a few of the members of a secret society are
acquainted with the true date and circumstances of its
origin. Hence the Freemasons, though claiming in
the seventeenth century an origin for their Order among
the masons employed in the building of Solomon’s
temple, received with avidity in the first half of the
eighteenth century the suggestion of Ramsay that it
dated from the time of the Crusades, and the state-
ments of adherents of the Swedish system that it was
a continuation of the Temple Order. It is obvious
that the Masons, as a body, knew nothing at that
time of the Order’s origin beyond the fact that it had
been grafted at an unknown period upon the guild of
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Masons, from which, it is equally obvious, it did not
derive its rites and mysteries.

‘Whence then were the Masonic rites and mysteries
derived? It is at least as probable that they have
descended from the Templars as that they should have
been instituted no longer ago than the seventeenth
century, and yet nothing be known concerning their
origin. Masonic writers who reject the hypothesis of
descent from the Templars throw no light upon the
matter; in casting from them that theory they seem
to have left themselves entirely in the dark. The
vague allusions of the initiatory discourse used in the
Swedish system to the Essenes are as little to be
regarded as the reference to the mysteries of Eleusis
in an address used by the Carbonari, or the statement
in the dissertation prefixed to the rules of the A.O.F.
that Forestry originated in the garden of Eden.

Though the Masonic Order is, at the present day,
counted among the secret forces of the European
revolution only by the Pope and the Ultramontane
section of the priesthood of Rome, so much of the
organisation and the symbolism of the secret societies
of the last hundred years has been derived from it,
and it forms so important a link of the connexion
between the medizval and the modern societies of a
secret character, that the foregoing considerations are
strictly in place. It may be that the Freemasons of
the nineteenth century have no secret doctrine, no aims
which distinguish them from the Foresters and the
Odd Fellows ; but this was not always the case, and I
shall now proceed to show how they have served to
link the Templars of the fourteenth century with the
Illuminati of the eighteenth.



CHAPTER I

THE ILLUMINATI.

AT the time when a variety of causes, the respective

shares of which in producing the great European
convulsion of the last century have formed the theme
of hundreds of volumes, were operating towards the
production of that tremendous political and social
tornado, the professorship of canon law in the univer-
sity of Ingolstadt, in Bavaria, was held by Dr. Adam
Weishaupt, a man possessing moral and intellectual
qualities of a rare order, but who had not, in the first
year of the period under review, made any mark in
the world. He had been educated in a seminary of
the Jesuits, and may have owed to his training by
priests of that Order the abhorrence of sacerdotal in-
fluence which bhe displayed in after life, as well as
much of his skill in the organisation of societies and
his aptitude in availing of the capacities of those
around him for the furtherance of his aims. He
quitted the seminary animated by an inveterate
hostility to the Jesuitical system, and, though he
devoted himself to the study of the canon law, the
influence of such works as the “Contrat Social” of
Rousseau is distinctly perceptible in the tone of his
letters to his friends Zwackh and Knigge.

The time at which he conceived the idea of
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founding a secret Order that should be a counter-
poise to the formidable organisation of Loyola cannot
be fixed with any degree of precision. The date
given by Robison* as that of the institution of the
Illuminati is 1775, when the founder was in his
twenty-eighth year; but I am disposed to regard
this as an error, as Weishaupt is said to have found
his first disciples in the lodges of the Masonic Order,
of which he was not a brother until two years later,
when he was initiated in the Lodge Theodore of Good
Counsel, held at Munich.t Findel, who denies the
statement of Robison that the first members of the
INluminati were Masons, says that Weishaupt adapted
the rites of Masonry and the rules of the Society of
Jesus to the purposes with which he founded the new
Order, which he could not have done unless he had
been himself initiated prior to the commencement of
the work with which his name is associated. It is
probable therefore that the Order of the Illuminati
was not founded, or at least not definitely constituted,
until two or three years later than the date assigned
by Robison.

No evidence is adduced by Findel in support of his
denial that the first members of the Illuminati were
Masons, though the fact that Weishaupt was a
brother of the latter Order renders it probable that
he would seek recruits among the Masonic brethren,
and it is well known that speculation on questions of
religion and government, and the organisation of

# Proofs of a Conspiracy against Government and Religion by the
Illuminati and the Freemasons, London, 1798. Barruel fixes the
date a year later than Robison does.

t+ Findel’s History of Freemasonry.
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society, were rife at that period in the Masonic
lodges, though such discussions were said to be for-
bidden by their rules. Findel, while contending that
the Masonic Order, before the seventeenth century,
was simply an organisation of the Masons’ guilds, or
trade unions, on some such system as that of the
Foresters and Odd Fellows of the present day, acknow-
‘ledges that it underwent a change during the last
quarter of that century and the first of the
eighteenth.

“The most decisive agent in accomplishing the
transformation of Masonry was,” he says, “that in-
tellectual movement known under the name of
English Deism, which boldly rejected all revelation
and all religious dogmas, and, under the victorious
banner of reason and criticism, broke down all bar-
riers in its path. Peers of the realm fought in the
ranks of the Deists, as well as the simple artisan.
Everything that civilisation and learning, sagacity
and fertility of thought, could offer was at that time
employed in the struggle for and against Deism, its
chief supporters being Toland, Collins, &c., and the
period when it flourished the most is exactly pointed
out by the Act of Toleration, passed in the year 1689.
It cannot be denied that there is to be found a certain
spiritual connexion between this movement and the
Fraternity of Freemasons, as it afterwards appeared.”

This connexion, he adds, struck him with great
force in the perusal of Toland’s * Pantheisticon,”
especially in the description of the Socratic Seciety,
and he quotes, as proof and illustration, the opening
of the liturgical form of the Order imagined by the
author, as follows :—
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“ Question. Have the uninitiated been removed ?

“ Answer. The doors are closed, and everything is
in due order.

“@. Under what auspices do we open this Society?

“ 4. Under the auspices of Philosophy.

“@. To what must this assembly, to what must
all our thoughts, words, and actions be continually
devoted ? .

“4. To the threefold aim of the wise—truth,
freedom, and virtue.”

“This intellectual revolution,” Findel adds, “ must
necessarily have exercised an important influence on
the Fraternity of Masons, and we cannot doubt that
1t contributed essentially to its final transformation
from an operative to an universal speculative Society.”
I quote Findel on this point in preference to express-
ing any opinion of my own, because he is himself a
brother of the Masonic Order, and regarded as an
authority of the highest order on all matters con-
cerning it. Let us now see what was the condition
of the Order at the time of Weishaupt’s initiation,
first glancing at a society whose operations explain
the allusion in Findel’s assertion that the Templars
“sneaked into the Order, like the Jesuits and the
Illuminati.”

An attempt was made during the second quarter of
the eighteenth century to graft upon the Masonic
Order the rites and mysteries of the Gormogones, said
to have been brought from China, and to have been
practised in that country for centuries. Very little
information concerning this society is accessible. It
is said to have been introduced into England by a
Chinese mandarin, who was suspected of being a
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Jesuit missionary; but it is not known whether the
supreme chapter of the Order had its seat in Paris or
in Rome. Masonic authors, though they have very
little to tell us concerning the Gormogones, agree in
regarding it as a Jesuit enterprise. Kloss conjectures
that it was an attempt of the disciples of Loyola to
promote Romanism, and regain their influence in
England; and Findel surmises that Ramsay, who
was an adherent of the Jacobite faction, had some-
thing to do with the experiment, which was, however,
a failure. The Order was dissolved in 1738, having
been in existence thirteen years; and it is a curious
coincidence, if nothing more, that the first Papal bull
against the Freemasons was fulminated in the same
year.

The Illuminati were more successful. The latter
half of the last century was a period of great activity
and incessant agitation in the Masonic Order. Higher
degrees and new rites and ceremonies were introduced,
and those which were practised in one country were
unknown in another. This was especially the case
on the Continent, where the English brethren of the
Order were surprised and perplexed by finding in the
lodges they visited degrees, doctrines, and ceremonies
entirely novel and strange to them.* The Parisian
Lodge, Les Amis Réunis, practised the ritual of the
Philaletheans, a Masonic sect or section founded in
1773, and which excluded from its chapters even the
officers of the Grand Orient. At Metz there was the

* Robison.—* These societies, which in England had no political
bearing, because liberty there conspired openly in Parliament and the
press, had a very different meaning on the Continent. They were the
secret conventicles of independent thought.”—Lamartine,
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chapter of St. Theodore, in which the revised ritual of
St. Martin was used. At Montpelier there was the
chapter of the Rosy Cross. From the Pyrenees to
the Oder, Masons of rank and means travelled from
lodge to lodge to learn new doctrines; and every
schemer and charlatan, a Ramsay or a Balsamo, who
professed to teach a mystery or doctrine till then un-
known, was received with honour and listened to with
avidity.

This ferment of ideas was a suitable preparation of
men’s minds for the enterprise contemplated by the
Ingolstadt professor of canon law. He found able
and earnest coadjutors in a Bavarian advocate, named
Zwackh, who was a brother of the Masonic Order, and
an Italian noble, the Marquis of Costanza; and pro-
ceeded to propagate his system in the Masonic lodges
of Munich and Augsburg. Objecting to the Masonic
and Rosicrucian systems, in the latter of which he
seems to have been initiated, that they ‘leave us
under the dominion of political and religious preju-
dices, and are as ineffectual as the soporific dose of an
ordinary sermon,” Weishaupt unfolded a system
which he explains as follows in a work published at a
later period at Ratisbon, and the introductory portion
of which is said to have been the discourse read to
aspirants on their admission into the Order :—

“I have contrived a system which possesses every
advantage. It attracts Christians of every commu-
nion, gradually frees them from all religious preju-
dices, cultivates the social virtues, and animates them
by a great, feasible, and speedy prospect of universal
happiness in a state of liberty and moral equality,
freed from the obstacles which subordination, and the
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inequalities of rank and wealth, continually throw in
our way. My system is accurate and complete; my
means are effectual and irresistible. Our Association
works in a way that nothing can withstand, and man
shall soon be free and happy.

“ This is the great object held out by this Associa-
tion, and the means of attaining it is Illumination—
enlightening the understanding by the sun of reason,
which will dispel the clouds of superstition and preju-
dice. The proficients in this Order are therefore
justly called the Illuminated. And of all Tllumina-
tion which human reason can give none is comparable
to the discovery of what we are, our nature, our obli-
gations, what degree of happiness we are capable of
enjoying, and what are the means of attaining it. In
comparison with this, the most brilliant sciences are
but amusements for the idle and luxurious. To fit
man by Illumination for active virtue, to engage him
to it by the strongest motives, to render the attain-
ment of it easy and certain by finding employment
for every talent, and by placing every talent in its
proper sphere of action, so that all, without any ex-
traordinary effort, and in conjunction with their ordi-
nary business, shall urge forward, with united powers,
the general task :—this indeed will be an employment
suited to noble natures, grand in its aims, and delight-
ful in their pursuit.”

The lofty aims -proposed in this discourse fore-
shadow the grand schemes of social amelioration
propounded at a later period by St. Simon, Fourier,
Owen, Cabet, and Weitling. It is one of the most
irrational ideas ever promulgated that either Weishaupt
or the social reformers by whom he was succeeded
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were actuated by the motive which some authors, too
hastily expressing the conclusions of a shallow judg-
ment, or intent only upon the vilification of opponents
and the misleading of the popular mind, have attri-
buted to them, of bringing about universal anarchy
and demoralisation. Such an aim could exist only in
the diseased brain of a lunatic. No enthusiast of this
class, however wrong-headed he may have been, how-
ever far he may have overshot his mark, can be shown
to have been actuated by other than the purest and
most laudable motives. They longed to flood the
world with light—to raise the masses of the human
race from the depths of misery and degradation to the
loftiest heights of happiness by the cultivation of the
moral and intellectual faculties. Such aims could not
be pursued or proposed a hundred years ago without
exposing those who propounded and followed them to
the risks of being excommunicated by the Church and
prosecuted by the State. It was necessary to work
as silently and invisibly as the mole.

“The Association,” continues Weishaupt, *“ must
be gradual. Its first task must be to form the young

members. As these multiply and advance, they

become the apostles of beneficence, and the work is
now on foot, and advances with a speed increasing
every day. The slightest observation shows that
nothing will so much contribute to increase the zeal
of the members as secret union. We see with what
keenness and zeal the frivolous business of Free-
masonry is conducted by persons knit together by the
secrecy of their union. It is needless te inquire into
the causes of the zeal which secrecy produces. It is
an universal fact, confirmed by the history of every
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age. Let this circumstance of our Constitution,
therefore, be directed to this noble purpose, and all
the objections urged against it by jealous tyranny
and affrighted superstition will vanish. The Order
will work silently and securely; and though the
generous benefactors of the human race are thus
deprived of the applause of the world, they have the
noble pleasure of seeing the work prosper in their
hands.”

It was probably for the better concealment of their
operations, in the event of their correspondence falling
into hands for which it was not intended, that the
Iluminati adopted the Persian reckoning of time,
and gave feigned names to persons and places, derived
from ancient history and geography. Weishaupt
assumed the name of Spartacus, Zwackh that of Cato,
and Baron Knigge was called Philo. Bavaria became
Achaia, and Austria, Egypt; Munich was known as
Athens, Ingolstadt as Eleusis, Vienna as Rome, and
so on through all the countries and cities of Central
Europe.

The extent to which Illuminism borrowed from the
Masonic system is shown in the following classification
of degrees, as given by the best authorities :—

I. Seminaries :—1, Probationary; 2, Novitiate;
3, Minerval ; 4, Tluminatus minor ; 5, Magistrate.

IT. FrEEMASONRY :—1, Symbolic: A, Apprentice—
B, Fellow-Craftsman—C, Master; 2, Scotch: A, Ilumi-
natus major, or Scotch novice—B, llluminatus dirigens,
or Scotch knight.

ITT. Mysteries: 1, Inferior: A, Presbyter, or
Priest—B, Princeps, or Regent; 2, Superior: A,
Magus—B, Rez.
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The ouly ostensible members of the Order were the
Minervals, who were found in most of the Masonic
lodges, and to whom candidates for Illumination had
to make known their wishes. The Minerval to whom
they applied intimated their desire to a superior, who
reported it to a council. No notice was taken of the
application for some time, but the candidate was kept
under observation, in order that a sound judgment
might be formed as to his fitness. Upon this point
Weishaupt’s instructions respecting the initiations
were :—* Whoever does not close his ears to the
lamentations of the miserable, nor his heart to gentle
pity; whoever is the friend and brother of the
unfortunate ; whoever has a heart capable of love and
friendship; whoever is steadfast in adversity, unwearied
in the carrying out of whatever has been once engaged
in, undaunted in the overcoming of difficulties; who-
ever does not mock and despise the weak; whoever
has a soul susceptible of conceiving great designs,
desirous of rising superior to all base motives, and of
distinguishing itself by deeds of benevolence; who-
ever shuns idleness; whoever considers no knowledge
as unessential which he may have the opportunity of
acquiring, regarding the knowledge of mankind as his
chief study; whoever, when truth and virtue are in
question, is sufficiently courageous to follow the
dictates of his own heart, despising the approbation
of the multitude—such a one is a proper candidate.”

If the candidate was deemed ineligible for admission
into the Order, no notice was taken of his application ;
if the results of the observation were favourable, he
received an invitation to a conference with a superior
of the Order, who was always unknown to him, and



THE ILLUMINATL 33

- by whom he was required to read and sign the
following obligation :—

“I, A. B, hereby bind myself, by my honour and
good name, forswearing all mental reservation, never
to reveal by hint, word, writing, or in any manner
whatever, even to my most trusted friend, anything
that shall be said or done to me respecting my wished-
for reception, and this whether my reception shall
follow or not, I being previously assured that it shall
contain nothing injurious to religion, the State, or to
good manners. I promise that I will make no in-
telligible extract from any papers which shall be
shown to me, now or during my novitiate. All this
I swear, as I am, and as I hope to continue, a man of
honour.”

He was then introduced to an Iluminatus dirigens,
who perhaps was known to him, and whom he was
directed to regard as his instructor in the doctrines
and mysteries of the Order. A register, called “ The
Table,” was produced, in which he entered the par-
ticulars of his name, age, birthplace, rank, residence,
profession, and favourite studies; after which his
preceptor read to him the discourse upon the nature
and objects of the Order from which extracts have
been given in the foregoing pages. He was then
required to answer in writing the following
questions :— ?

“ What advantages he hopes to derive from being
a member of the Order? What he most particularly
wishes to learn? What questions relative to the life,
prospects, and duties of man, as an individual and as
a citizen, he wishes to have discussed with him? In
what respects he thinks he can be of use to the Order ?
. VOL. L D
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‘Who are his parents, relatives, friends, and correspon-
dents? Whom he deems proper persons to be
received into the Order, or whom he thinks unfit for
it, with the reasons in both cases ?”

‘When the Minerval was deemed eligible for ad-
vancement to the next grade, that of JWuminatus minor,
he was informed that the aim of the Order was “to
make of the human race, without distinction of nation,
condition, or profession, one good and happy family.”
If he assented to the desirability of this result, he was
required to sign a new obligation in the following
terms :—

“I, A. B., protest before you, the worthy Plenipo-
tentiary of the venerable Order into which I desire to
* be admitted, that I acknowledge my natural weakness
and inability, and that I, with all my possessions,
rank, honours, and titles which I hold in political
society, am only a man; I can enjoy these things
only through my fellow-men, and through them also
I may lose them. The approbation and consideration
of my fellow-men are indispensable, and I must try
to preserve them by all my talents. These I will
never use to the prejudice of the universal good, but
will oppose with all my might the enemies of the
human race and of political society. I will embrace
every opportunity of saving mankind, by cultivating
my understanding and my affections, and by imparting
all important knowledge, as the statutes of this Order
require of me. I bind myself to perpetual silence
and unshaken loyalty and submission to the Order,
in the persons of my superiors; here making a faithful
and complete surrender of my private judgment, my
own will, and every narrow-minded employment of
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my power and influence. I pledge myself to account
the good of the Order as my own, and am ready to
serve it with my fortune, my honour, and my blood.
Should I, through omission, neglect, passion, or
wickedness, behave contrary to the good of the Order,
' I subject myself to whatever reproof or punishment
my superiors shall enjoin. The friends and enemies
of the Order shall be my friends and enemies, and
with respect to both I will conduct myself as directed
by the Order, and am ready in every lawful way to
devote myself to its increase and promotion, and
therein to employ all my ability. All this I promise
and protest, without secret reservation, according to
the intention of the Society which requires fromr me
this engagement. This I do as I am, and as I hope
to continue, a man of honour.”

A drawn sword was then pointed at the aspirant’s
breast, and he was threatened with unavoidable
vengeance, from which no potentate, he was warned,
could defend him, if he should ever betray the Order.
He was next asked—1. What aim he wished the
Order to have? 2. What means he would use to
advance that aim? 8. Whom he wished to'exclude
from the Order? 4. What topics he desired should not
be discussed in it? Robison says that the ceremony
of initiation resembled that of the Chevaliers du
Soleil, “known to every one much conversant in
Masonry;” but I believe that this degree is not so
generally known as he assumed it to be.

The next stage of instruction was designed equally
to inculcate veneration for the superiors of the Order,
and excite desire for advancement to the higher
degrees: The superiors were described as men who

D2
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had great opportunities for observation of the moral
world, and whose habit of constantly occupying their
minds with the great objects of the Order had en-
larged their views far beyond the narrow limits of
nations and kingdoms, which would one day coalesce
into one great Society, in which the consideration
given in the old world to rank and wealth would
attach only to worth and talent. As the initiated
advanced in the Order they would become acquainted
with these great and good men, and share with them
the grand work of illuminating the world. To whet
their zeal, they were introduced to two or three of
the superior members and several of their own grade,
and made instructors of some Minervals, upon whose
progress and conduct they were required to report to
their superiors.

Thus far the progress of the Illuminati may be
traced from the works published by Weishaupt in
windication of the Order, and from the evidence taken
when an investigation into its nature and objects was
instituted by the Elector of Bavaria. No information
was given by Weishaupt concerning the higher
degrees, and the witnesses summoned by the Elector
were not in a position to make any satisfactory state-
ment on the subject. Some information concerning
them may be gleaned, however, from the correspon-
dence and documents seized on the suppression of the
Order, and from the account subsequently published
by Baron Knigge. Among the papers was a discourse
which Robison says was delivered on reception into
the degree of priest or presbyter, but which, according
to the official account, was used in the reception of an
Jlluminatus dirigens. In the critical narrative appended
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to one portion of the published papers and letters*
differences are pointed out between the two discourses,
or rather between the two forms in which it was
- used, for it seems to have been used, with variations,
for both occasions. Kings are deseribed in this dis-
course as umited by a tacit eonvention to keep the
nations in subjection to their will, nobles as the
retainers of despotism, patriotism as a narrow-minded
prejudice. ' A sufficient idea of its general purport
may be gleaned from the following extract :—

“Men originally led a patriarchal life, in which
every father of a family was the sole lord of his house
and bis property, while he himself possessed general
freedom and equality. Bué they suffered themselves
to be oppressed—gave themselves up to civil societies,
and formed States. By this they fell; and this is the
fall of man, by which they were thrust into unspeak-
able misery. To get out of this state, to be freed and
born again, there is no other means than the use of
pure Reason, by which a general morality may be
established which will put man into a condition to
govern himself, regain his original worth, and dispense
with all political supports, and particularly with
rulers. This can be done in no other way but by
secret associations, which will by degrees, and in
silence, possess themselves of the government of the
States, and make use of those means for this purpose
which the wicked use for attaining their base ends.
Princes and Priests are in particular, and xar’ efoymw,
the wicked, whose hands we must tie up by means of

# Neueste Arbeitung der Spartacus und Philo;
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these associations, if we cannot root them out alto-
gether.”

Questions in politics and ethics were required to be
answered in writing, and, the replies being satisfac-
tory, the candidate put on a tunic of white linen, with
a girdle of crimson silk, and was received into the
priestly degree with ceremonies in which crowns and
sceptres were treated as symbols of degradation.
The white tunic and the crimson girdle recall the
Assassins of the East, from whom the idea may have
been derived.

Candidates for the degree of regent were required
to be perfectly independent of the ruling powers, and
only those Illuminated priests or presbyters who were
known to be dissatisfied with the political institutions
of the country, and desirous of reforming them, were
advanced to that grade. The candidate for this de-
gree was introduced in the garb of a slave, and bound
with chains, and was not admitted until, on being told
by a voice from within that only free men could enter,
his conductors answered for him that his will was to be
free, that he had been illuminated, and fled from those
who had enslaved him to seek a refuge among the
free. More questions relating to government and
society had to be answered in writing, and then a
human skeleton was revealed, with a crown and a
sword laid at its feet. The candidate was asked
whether this grim relic of humanity had been a noble
or a peasant ; and, on his expressing his inability to
determine the point, was told that the quality of man-
hood was the only one that was important.

The two highest degrees were conferred only by
Weishaupt, and the discourses delivered on those oc-
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casions have not been printed. According to the
account given in the appendix to the papers and cor-
respondence seized by the Bavarian authorities on the
suppression of the Order, but which cannot be re-
garded as a trustworthy authority on the subject,
“the doctrines delivered in the degree of Magus or
Philosophus are the same with those of Spinoza;
where all is material, God and the world are the same
thing, and all religion is without foundation, and the
contrivance of ambitious men.” The degree of Rex,
according to the same doubtful authority, taught
“ that every peasant, citizen, and householder is a
sovereign, as in the patriarchal state, and that nations
must be brought back to that state by whatever
means are conducible ; peaceably, if it can be done so;
but, if not, then by force—for all subordination must
vanish from the face of the earth.”

Such was the system which Weishaupt built upon
the Masonic foundation, and strengthened, as he
thought, with as much of Jesuitic precept and prac-
tice as could be made subservient to his purpose.
The constitution of the Order has afforded a model
for the numerous secret societies by which it has been
succeedéed. The head of the Order was styled the
general, as in the Society of Jesus. He was to be
elected by the Areopagus from among themselves, and
was known only to that body, with which he was in
constant communication and correspondence, and to
the secretaries and confidential agents whom he em-
ployed in the transaction of the business of the Order.
The Areopagus was a council of twelve leading mem-
bers of the Order, who received reports from the
national directors, and digested them for the general.
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There was a national director for each State in which
the Order obtained a footing, each presiding, like the
general, over a council of twelve. Subordinate to the
national directors were the provincials, who had also
their councils of twelve, selected from the regents of
the province; and the organisation was completed by
the prefects, of whom there was one over every group
of eight lodges. These were also chosen from the
regents, and reported to the provincial councils.

The new Order progressed slowly at first, and was
unknown beyond Bavaria until 1780, when the Mar-
quis of Costanza made the tour of Northern Germany,
visiting all the Masonic lodges for the purpose of in-
troducing it. In the course of his travels he became
acquainted with Baron Knigge, who had long been a
brother of the Masonic Order, in which he was initi-
ated at Cassel, but regarded it as a system of “ absurd
juggling tricks,” and was meditating innovations in it
when he became acquainted with Costanza. The
latter was soon convinced that Knigge would prove a
valuable member of the Order, and, having initiated
him, reported of him to Weishaupt so favourably that
a correspondence was originated between the Ingol-
stadt professor and the Hessian baron, and tended
greatly to increase Knigge’s zeal and enthusiasm.
These qualities, combined with the influence which
he derived from his social position, made Knigge a
valuable co-worker with Costanza, and during 1781
the initiations multiplied rapidly. The new Minervals
were men of good repute for learning and probity ;
and as each initiation widened the circle of the Order’s
influence, applications for admission were made by
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hundreds from all parts of the Saxon and Rhenish
circles.

In the autumn of 1781 Knigge made a journey
through Bavaria, making the acquaintance of the
superior members of the Order as he went, and had a
conference with Weishaupt, in which it was arranged
that he should use all his opportunities and influence
to procure the ascendancy of Illuminism in the
Masonic lodges. A great opportunity was afforded
shortly afterwards by the Masonic convention at
‘Wilhelmsbad, in which Knigge had a seat. So eager
were the Freemasons of that period for new rites and
doctrines that the majority of the delegates wished to
be initiated into the secrets of Illuminism, which
they regarded as a higher development of Masonry.
Many of them were deterred, however, by finding
that Knigge had no credentials from any high
Masonic authority, and knowing that knavish pre-
tenders to higher mysteries had been among them
before; and the initiations were far less numerous
than the applications.

Among the delegates whom Knigge succeeded in
attracting within the influence of Illuminism, how-
ever, was Bode, the translator of the English
humorists, and the representative in the convention
of the Duke of Saxe-Gotha. Bode was a man of the
most upright character, high social position, and cul-
tivated understanding, an earnest seeker after truth,
and an uncompromising enemy of sacerdotalism and
superstition. He had to be convinced that Illu-
minism was free from. “priesteraft, or any idiotic
influence of that kind,” before he would connect

L & ]
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himself with it; but once convinced that the new
Order aimed at overthrowing priesteraft, and was
antagonistic to the Jesuits, who were the objects of
his special aversion, he advanced zealously to the
degree of Illuminatus dirigens, imparted to Knigge all
that he knew concerning the Freemasons and the
Rosicrucians, and exerted himself to obtain recruits
for the Illuminati in the Masonic lodges.

But while Knigge and Bode were working earnestly
and successfully in extending the strength and in-
fluence of the Order in the countries north of the
Maine, a cloud was gathering over the movement in
Bavaria. The system was not complete when Knigge
was introduced to Weishaupt, and its elaboration was
entrusted to the former, and in this arrangement
the seeds of dissension were sown. Weishaupt made
.alterations and additions in the rules, &c., without
consulting Knigge, and though it was reasonable that
he, as the founder of the Order, should have a veto in
such matters, the manner in which it was exercised
irritated his colleague, and the divergence of their
views concerning the ritual and government of the
Order which the controversy disclosed led to Knigge’s
withdrawal. This secession, though it hindered for a
time the progress of Illuminism, was a less serious
drawback than the result of the adaptation of the
Jesuitic system to the purposes of a society aiming at
mental illumination and a social democracy. The
paternal system of government proved as unworkable
in Illuminism as it was found to be in the Rational
Society founded by Owen; and the perpetual
espionage to which the members were subjected,
and the account which they were required to render
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periodically of their moral and intellectual progress,
engendered distrust on one side and hypocrisy on the
other.*

These evils would have brought about the disrup-
tion of the Order sooner or later, even if it had not
been exposed to attacks from without. But, from
some cause or other, the existence of the Order was
suspected by the Jesuits, and they immediately
exerted themselves to discover it. Information was
given to the Elector of Bavaria that designs inimical
to religion and government were forming in the
Masonic lodges, with which he immediately com-
municated, reminding the brethren that the discus-
sion of religious and political questions was forbidden
by the statutes of the Order, and informing them
that if this had not been the case, he would not
have allowed them to establish themselves in his
dominions. The Freemasons protesting their inno-
cence of the designs imputed to them, while fresh
rumours to the contrary reached the Elector, a judi-
cial inquiry was ordered; but the results were so
imperfect and unsatisfactory as to leave the matter
nearly as it was found. The Illuminati were sup-
posed by the commissioners of the Elector to be a
higher degree of the Masonic Order, but no Illu- -
minati could be found, and the Masons protested
that they knew no such degree. Some of them had
heard of persons called Minervals, but whether these
were connected with the unknown Illuminati they
knew not.

® There is evidence of these practices in the published corre-
spondence of Weishaupt and Zwackh.
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Some of the Minervals, who were indicated by
their Masonic brethren, were privately examined by
the Elector, but they revealed none of the secrets of
the Order, and assured him that its aim was in the
highest degree praiseworthy. Rumours of the exis-
tence of a secret society that was one day to rule the
world continued to reach the Elector, however, and,
perplexity giving way to alarm, he issued an edict
forbidding the holding of Masonic lodges throughout
his dominions. The Munich lodge, Theedore of
Good Counsel, continued to meet, however, and its
members openly reprobated the deeree as absurd and
unjustifiable.

The Jesuits made an attack in their own way.
Two or three of them contrived to obtain admission
into the Order, in which they distinguished them-
selves by their seeming inveterate hostility to the
Society of Jesus, and, when they had learned enough
for their purpose, revealed the existence of Illuminism
to the Elector. In 1783 the commissioners of the
Elector summoned before them, on information sworn
by Canon Danzer, Professor Westenrieder, and a book-
seller named Strobl, four professors of the Marianen
Academy, named Utschneider, Cossandey, Renner,
and Grunberger, who had been initiated several years
previously, but had withdrawn from the Order, and
manifested personal rancour against several of their
late associates. They were not unwilling witnesses,
therefore, and they told all that they knew concerning
the constitution and principles of the Order, admitting,
however, that there was much of which they were
ignorant, none of them having advanced beyond the
degree of Magistrate, and two being only Minervals.
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Their statements that the Order abjured religion,
country, and property, and that addresses were
delivered in the lodges on liberty and equality as the
inalienable rights of mankind, made a profound im-
pression on the mind of the Elector, and he privately
examined a young Bavarian noble who was an Illu-
nant of superior grade, in the hope of eliciting some
further information concerning a society that seemed
so dangerous, and whose operations were veiled in so
much mystery. The witness maintained, however,
that the objects of the Order had been misrepresented,
and expressed his conviction that there would be no
objection to submit its constitution and statutes to
the Elector.

The measures thereupon directed against the Illu-
minati were not taken with much judgment. The
authorities first published the evidence of the four
professors of the Marianen Academy, some of which
the Illuminati declared to be false, and the rest inac-
curate or perverted representations of the truth.
Then the Elector issued an edict against all secret
societies, followed by another expressly suppressing
the Illuminati; and, having thus placed the Order on
its guard, he next directed a search to be made for its
papers. Of course none were found. The Illuminati
said that they had been burned, the suppression of
the Order having rendered them useless; but it is
more -probable that the failure to discover them was
the result of the very simple cause, that they were
not sought for in the right places.

Subsequently the house of the advocate Zwackh was
gearched, and letters and documents were found which
revealed the authors and directors of the mysterious
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system which caused so much anxiety and alarm.
Weishaupt, being found to be the head and founder of
the Order, was deprived of his professorship and
banished from the Elector’s dominions. He was
offered a pension of eight hundred florins, but refused
to accept it, and removed only to Ratisbon, which,
being a free city of the empire, was not within the
jurisdiction of the Bavarian electorate. The Marquis
of Costanza and another Italian, Count Saviola, were
.also banished, with pensions of the amount offered to
Weishaupt, which they accepted. Zwackh incurred
the same penalty, and found an asylum with the
Prince of Salms. Canon Hertel was deprived of his
" benefice, and Baron Maggenhoff suffered a month’s
imprisonment in a monastery

These events occurred in 1785.

‘Weishaupt removed from Ratisbon to Gotha, on
the invitation of the Duke of Saxe-Gotha, who was
an Illuminée as well as a brother of the Masonic Order,
and whose friendship and protection he enjoyed until
the duke’s death.®* His connexion with the Illumi-
nati subsequent to his departure from Ingolstadt
cannot be traced, and it has been surmised that
changes in the generalship and the national and pro-
vincial' directorships of the Order were made imme-
diately after its suppression, in order that the work
might be carried on with less risk of attracting suspi-
cion. The alarm which the discovery of the objects
of the Order had excited in the mind of the Elector of
Bavaria had communicated itself to his brother princes

* Weishaupt lived until 1830, when he was in his eighty-third year,
having been born in 1748.
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of Germany, and both the Duke of Saxe-Gotha and
the Duke of Saxe-Weimar withdrew from it, though
the former continued the protection and pension which
he had accorded to Weishaupt, to whom, however,
the duchess would never speak.

According to the witnesses examined at Munich in
1783 the Order had then six hundred lodges in
Bavaria, and had been extended to Austria, Saxony,
Holland, and Italy; but they admitted that they had
no personal knowledge of the matter, and merely
repeated the information which they had received
from Illuminati whom they believed to be well-
informed. The statement was imperfect, and I am
disposed to consider it in some respects inaccurate.

The Order appears to have been extended all over
Germany, and to have penetrated into Alsace and
Lorraine, some of the delegates of those provinces to
the Masonic convention at Wilhelmsbad having been
initiated by Baron Knigge; and among them was
Dietrich, mayor of Strasburg, who a few years later
figured somewhat prominently in the sanguinary
events of the French Revolution. There are traces in
the correspondence of Weishaupt with Zwackh and
others of the Order having obtained a footing in
Poland, and Robison asserts that lodges of Illuminati
were established in England as early as 1784 ; but it
seems to have been connected with Italy and Holland
only through patives of those countries who resided
in Germany, and the assertion that there were English
Illuminati is unsupported by evidence.

So much of the statements of Robison and Barruel*

* Memoirs of the Jacobins.
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is mere inference that they must be received with
caution, and accepted only when they are supported
by evidence. They were both so violently opposed,
not merely to the acts of the French revolutionists,
but to the principles of the revolution, that their
sentiments received a shock from the discovery of
IMluminism which disposed them to see that system
in whatever resembled it; just as, amongst the pre-
sent generation, there are some who see the finger of
the Jesuits, others that of the Cabinet of St. Peters-
burg, in every political event. Robison persisted that
Illuminism was revived, immediately after its sup-
pression, under another name, and in another form,
all over Germany ; and that, though again detected,
and again broken up, it spread all over Europe. The
evidence which he adduces in support of these asser-
tions must be examined before relating the true history
of the Illuminati after the suppression of the Order
in Bavaria.

Weishaupt is said to have observed, when he left
Ingolstadt, that the rejoicing of the Court of Munich
would soon be turned into sorrow ; and also that he
would restore the Order with tenfold energy in twelve
months. It is very probable that these menacing re-
marks were really made, and the inquiry may be nar:
rowed to the mode in which Weishaupt’s threats were
carried into execution. According to Robison, Illu-
minism was revived in an association called the
German Union, the history of which—or rather of the
circumstances connected with its supposed detection—
~ 1is as instructive as it is curious. Nicholai, the cele-
brated Berlin publisher, had a profound horror and
detestation of the Jesuits; and, in the course of an
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investigation which he made into their practices all
over Germany, came into collision with Stark, famous
in Masonic annals, whom he accused of being a Jesuit,
and of having even submitted to the tonsure. Stark
retorted by denouncing Nicholai as an Illuminant,
and a paper war ensued, in the course of which the
former announced that he had discovered the con-
tinued existence of Illuminism in the form of a pre-
tended literary society called the German Union.
This startling announcement was followed by the
publication of a series of papers, which it was alleged
had been received, partly printed and partly in manu-
script, by a publisher, who professed that he did not
know whence they had come. The first of the series
was a prospectus of a Reading Society ; the second a
form of oath, binding those who signed it to secrecy
concerning the society, which was called the German
Union. It was inferred by Stark that this was sent
to those who forwarded subscriptions to the promoters
of the society, and that those who signed it received
the third document of the series, which was headed
“ The Plan of the XXII.,” and began as follows :—
- ““We have united in order to accomplish the aim of the
exalted Founder of Christianity—viz., the enlightening
of mankind and the dethronement of superstition and
fanaticism, by means of the secret fraternisation of all
who love the work of God.” This, it was contended
by Stark, could mean nothing less than Tlluminism.
The attention of the authorities and the police
being given to the matter, the concoction of the
German Union was traced to Dr. Bahrdt, an Illu-
minant of abandoned character, whom Baron Knigge
mentions, in his latest pamphlet on the Illuminist
VOL. 1. E
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controversy, in terms of the utmost contempt and
abhorrence. Robison acknowledges that the Union
“aimed at the entry money and annual subscriptions,
and at the publication and profitable sale of Dr.
Bahrdt’s books;” and in his eagerness to affix the
stigma of everything evil upon every one connected
with the Illuminati, fails to perceive that such an
object could not be that of the Order to which he
ascribed it. Bahrdt, on being arrested, confessed, by
implication at least, that “the enlightening of man-
kind,” &c., was a mere pretence, and there seems no
doubt that the sole object of the scheme was to prey
upon the public. Unfortunately for himself, he had
taken into his employment a young man named
Roper, who had been expelled from his college for
immoral conduct, and subsisted by vending manu-
script copies of obscene poems, until he was found by
Bahrdt destitute and almost starving. This wretched
fellow stole from Bahrdt the papers relating to the
German Union, and took them to a priest named
Schiitz, whose character was little better than his
own, and who arranged them for publication, after-
wards giving information to the police.

But the Illuminati continued to exist, though not
in the form assigned to it by Robison. Some Light
is thrown upon the history of the Order after the
retirement of Weishaupt to Gotha, by a communica-
tion that was made thirteen years afterwards to an
English magazine, that “ from the beginning of 1790,
every concern of the Illuminati has ceased, and no
lodge of Freemasons in Germany has since that period
taken the least notice of them. The proofs of this
assertion are found among the papers of Mr. Bode,
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late Privy Councillor at Weimar, who was at the head
of the Order in this part of Germany, and died in
1794.”* The article from which this passage is quoted
was written by Boetiger, director of the Weimar
Gymnasium, who was a frequent contributor to the
periodical literature of the period, and who appears to
have had access to Bode's papers after the latter’s
decease. The doubt expressed by Barruel as to the
accuracy of the statement that Illuminism ceased to
exist in Germany in 1790, arose from his seeing, like
Robison, Illuminism in every movement that savoured
of revolution, and regarding Jacobinism as its con-
tinuation. I shall presently give reasons for believing
Boetiger’'s statement to be correct ; but there is a
point in the reference to Bode which requires prior
attention.

The position assigned to Bode appears to be that
of National Director of Upper Saxony, in which he
would have been subordinate to the Areopagus; but
he was a member of that Council two or three years_
before the date given by Boetiger as that at which
the Illuminati ceased to exist, or, as it would perhaps
be more correct to say, to have an active existence.
Was Bode, then, the successor of Weishaupt in the
generalship of the Order? The fact may have been
unknown to Boetiger, but it seems more probable
that Bode should have held that office than that
Boetiger should have made the mistake of assigning
him a lower position than that which he is known to
have held in 1788.

The introduction of Illuminism into France was

* Monthly Magazine, 1798,
E2
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effected at that date by Mirabeau, who, during his
residence in Germany, was initiated by Mauvillen, a
professor of the Caroline College, at Brunswick.
Mauvillon, who had been initiated by Knigge, is said
to have assisted Mirabeau in the production of the
curious work on Illuminism,* the object of which
constituted one of the literary puzzles of the last
century, the picture presented being very different
from the reality. Illuminism is made to appear in
its pages as a compound of the Rosicrucian system
and the doctrines of Swedenborg, with what object is
not clear, the surmise of Barruel that it was intended
to deceive the French as to the actual aims of the
Illuminati not being supported by the circumstances.
‘Why should it have been deemed necessary that the
French should be deceived on this point any more
than the Germans? The French brethren of the
Masonic Order were as eager for novelties as those of
Germany, and it was, in France as in Germany, upon
the Masonic system that Illuminism was grafted.

" Mirabeau rose high in the Order, and on his return
to France, in September, 1788, initiated the Duke of
Orleans, whq was Grand Master of the Freemasons of
that country, and Talleyrand. Correspondence with the
Areopagus concerning the introduction of the system
into France led to two members of that body, Bode
and Baron Busche, the latter a lieutenant-colonel in
the army of the Grand Duke of Hesse-Darmstadt,
being deputed for that purpose. Barruel asserts that
the whole of the Masonic lodges comprised in the
Grand Orient, two hundred and sixty-six in number,

#* Essai sur les Illuminées.
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were “illuminated” by the end of March, 1789 ; and
there is no doubt that, with the ground so well
prepared by the works of Voltaire and Rousseau,
D’Alembert and Diderot, and with the example and
influence of the Duke of Orleans, and the exertions of
men such as Mirabeau, Talleyrand, Si¢yes, and Con-
dorcet, the system spread with rapidity.

It penetrated into Switzerland about the same
time, and was grafted on the Masonic lodges of
Berne and Geneva, as wae discovered in 1794, when
some political arrests were made, and patents, as the
certificates of applications were called, found among
the papers of the accused.

Such was the position of Illuminism within two
years of the time when, according to Boetiger, it
ceased to have any influence in Germany. Barruel
attempts to connect the Jacobin Club with the Order,
but he adduces no other evidence than the similarity
of the principles of the two organisations, and the
fact that Mirabeau and Siéyes were members of the
Breton Committee. Such reasoning is common to
the opponents of what is vaguely called lz Révolution,
from the Popes who have fulminated Bulls, condemn-
ing in one category Freemasonry, Jacobinism, Jan-
senism, and Carbonarism, to the Abbé Defourny, who
asserts that the Commune and the International were
known in England in 1539, under the name of
Chartism.*

The truth is, that the Revolution had, in 1790,

# Address delivered at the Cercle Catholique in 1873, and inserted
in the pamphlet Les Trois Questions Capitales: Obéissance, Droit
des Gens, Revanche.
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placed France, and, in a less degree, the neighbouring
countries, in the situation which Lamartine describes
as placing Freemasonry in a different position in
England to that which the Order occupied on the
Continent. Constitutional government and a free
press leave no room for secret societies to work in;
and in 1790 France spoke so openly in the National
Assembly, in the Jacobin Club, and in the columns
of a score of journals, all breathing revolution, that
the occupation of the Illuminati was gone. *“ We are
all Freemasons now,” a jubilant revolutionist of that
period is said to have remarked; and he might have
substituted Illuminati for Freemasons, and increased
the force of the observation. The Bastille had fallen,
and with it the prestige of absolute power; the people
were on their feet, armed with vote and musket; the
inspiring strains of the Marseillaise Hymn filled the
air. What need, then, of the Illuminati?
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CHAPTER II.

THE UNITED IRISHMEN.

WHILE the sun of liberty was rising in France

from a blood-red horizon, and the nations
around were watching its advent with mingled hope-
fulness and apprehension, a few ardent spirits among
the Protestants of Ireland became inspired with the
idea that, since all men love freedom, the desire to
obtain it would cause Irishmen to forget the dif-
ferences of race and creed among them, and unite for
the furtherance of the common object. At this dis-
tance of time, when the field in which those pioneers
of civil and religious freedom in the sister island had
to labour can be surveyed with calm deliberation, the
prospect of the political harvest which they hoped to
garner appears to have been far from brilliant. Social
and religious discords were never more rife in Ireland,
or manifested with greater fierceness and violence,
than when Samuel Neilson, a Belfast draper, conceived
the idea of an association which should unite Protes-
tants and Catholics for the promotion of Parliamen-
tary reform and Catholic emancipation. Lawless as-
sociations spread over the country, and filled it with
violence and terror. The Peep-of-Day Boys burned
the houses and maimed the cattle of the Catholics,
and the Defenders retaliated by similar outrages upon
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the property of the Protestants. The Catholic Com-
mittee, representing the aristocracy and the clergy of
the old faith rather than the nation, evinced no sym-
pathy with the movement for Parliamentary reform.
The Government looked coldly upon both, and main-
tained an attitude of inaction, refraining alike from
measures of amelioration and endeavours at pacifica-
tion, and regarding the antagonistic bands of noc-
turnal ravagers with less disapprobation than would
have been shown towards a resolution of a public
meeting, or an article in a newspaper, condemnatory
of its policy.

In the province of Ulster political feehng was more
prominent than the religious strife which has since
caused blood to flow in its towns on so many un-
happy occasions. The Orange lodges were not then
in existence. The Parliamentary reformers had be-
come, in 1791, convinced that they could not conduct
their agitation to a successful conclusion without a
previous union of the Catholic and Protestant sec-
tions of the nation, the former constituting at least
two-thirds of the Irish population. Neilson, who
was a member of the volunteers, from. the formation
of which so much had been expected, propounded this
idea to two of his friends, Macracken and Russell, the
latter an officer in the army, in the beginning of Oc-
tober, 1791. “Our efforts for reform,” he said, “ have
hitherto been ineffectual, and they deserved to be so,
for they have been seltish and unjust, as not includ-
ing the rights of the Catholics in the claim we put
forward for ourselves.” Russell suggested that they
should communicate their views to his friend Tone,
whose pamphlet on the claims of the Catholics had
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just been published, and was attracting much atten-
tion. Neilson assented, and Russell went to Dublin
to invite Tone to a conference.

Theobald Wolfe Tone, who was brought promni-
nently on the field of Irish politics by this invitation,
was at that time a briefless barrister, in his twenty-
eighth year, with a greater inclination for politics
than for the law. He had before this time founded
a club which combined political discussions with con-
viviality, and which, though it soon broke up, made
him acquainted with the elder Emmet, whom he de-
scribes as ““a man completely after my own heart, of
a great and comprehensive mind, of the warmest and
sincerest affection for his friends, and of firm and
steady adherence to lhis principles, to which he has
sacrificed much, as I know, and would, I am sure, if
necessary, sacrifice his life.”* He was intimate also
with Keogh, and through him became acquainted with
the more liberal members of the Catholic committee.

He readily accompanied Russell to Belfast, where,
after three weeks’ conferences and correspondence, the
Association of United Irishmen was organised on the
basis of the following resolutions, which were drawn
up by himself :—

“1. That the weight of English influence in the
government of this country is so great as to require a
cordial union among all the people of Ireland, to
maintain that balance which is essential to the preser-
vation of our liberties and the extension of our com-
merce. 2. That the sole constitutional mode by which
this influence can be opposed is by a complete and

# Memoirs of Theobald Wolfe Tone,
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radical reform of the representation of the people in
Parliament. 8. That no reform is practicable, effica-
cious, or just which shall not include Irishmen of
every religious persuasion.”

Tone then returned to Dublin, with instructions to
cultivate relations with prominent men of the popular
party, and, if possible, to form a branch society of
United Irishmen in that city. He contrived to be-
come acquainted with Napper Tandy, an active agi-
tator, and through him with others; and, in a week
or two, a branch society was formed, the Hon.
Simon Butler being its chairman, and Napper Tandy,
secretary. The resolutions of the Belfast society
were unanimously adopted, and correspondence opened
with the United Irishmen of the northern city.

The United Irishmen of that day were not a secret
society, the contrary statement of Clifford, in the note
appended to his translation of Barruel’s “ Memoirs of
the Jacobins,”” proceeding -from his attributing the
constitution of ‘the association of 1798 to the earlier
society. They were not even imbued with republican
sympathies or aims.

“At this time,” says Wolfe Tone, “ the establish-
ment of a republic was not the immediate object of
my speculations. My object was to secure the inde-
pendence of my country under any form of govern-
ment, to which I was led by a hatred of England so
deeply rooted in my nature that it was rather an in-
stinct than a principle. I left to others, better quali-
fied for the inquiry, the investigation and merits of
the different forms of government, and I contented
myself with labouring on my own system, which was
luckily in perfect coincidence as to its operation with
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that of those men who viewed the question on a
broader and juster scale than I did at the time I men-
tion. The club was scarcely formed before I lost all
pretensions to anything like influence in their mea-
sures, a circumstance which at first mortified me not
a little ; and perhaps, had I retained more weight in
their councils, I might have prevented, as on some
occasions I laboured unsuccessfully to prevent, their
running into indiscretions which gave their enemies
but too great advantages over them. It is easy to be
wise after the event. So it was, however, that I soon
sunk into obscurity in the club, which, however, I
had the satisfaction to see daily increasing in numbers
and consequence.”

As soon as the society was fairly in operation, the
efforts of Neilson and Tone were directed to the re-
conciliation of the Defenders and the Peep-of-Day
Boys, and the latter made a tour through the country
for that purpose, his journal of which abounds with
vivid illustrations of the moral and social condition of
the Irish people at that period. The endeavours of
the United Irishmen to bring about the pacification
of the country were unsuccessful, on the whole,
though some good was effected here and there; but
the association rapidly grew stronger and more in-
fluential, the supineness with which the Government
viewed the disorders of the country, and the arbitrary
and often lawless proceedings of the magistrates,
causing adhesions to multiply faster than the greatest
efforts of the leaders could have done.

As their numbers increased their views ceased to be
bounded by Catholic emancipation and Parliamentary
reform. They began to think of the possibility of
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achieving the independence of Ireland, to cultivate
closer relations with the Defenders, and to entertain
the idea of assistance from France. The association,
pervaded by a new spirit, assumed a new organisation.
In the spring of 1795 it was reconstituted on a system
closely resembling that of the Illuminati, and charac-
terised by Harwood as ““a sort of pyramidical hier-
archy of sedition, with an infinite number of small
local societies for the base, and gradually towering up,
through the nicely fitted gradations of baronial, county,
and provincial committees, to the apex of a national
" executive directory.”*

The local societies were formed by the union of
twelve members living in the same street or neigh-
bourhood, and one of whom was elected to the post of
secretary. The secretaries of five local societies con-
stituted a lower baronial committee, and delegates
from ten such committees formed an upper baronial
committee. Delegates from the committees of the
latter class constituted the county committees, each of
which returned two or three delegates to the pro-
vincial committees. By and from these last five
members were elected by ballot to form the national
executive directory, which had the supreme and
uncontrolled command of the whole body. The
election was so conducted that only the secretaries of
the provincial committees knew who had been elected,
and the instructions of the executive were transmitted
by one of the number to the secretaries of the pro-
vincial committees, and thence downward through the
secretaries of the county and baronial committees to

* History of the Irish Rebellion of 1798,
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the local societies, the whole of the proceedings being
enveloped in the utmost secrecy, and presenting a
remarkable combination of democracy below with
absolutism at the top. '

Secrecy was declared to be necessary for rendering
“the bond of union more cohesive and the spirit of
union more ardent, to envelop the plan with ambi-
guity, to facilitate its own agency, and to confound
and terrify its enemies by ignorance of ifs design,
extent, and direction.” An oath of secrecy and
fidelity took the place of the simple declaration
formerly made by members on joining the Association,
and the confession of political faith was so modified
-that it might be made equally by republicans and by
constitutional reformers. As thus modified, the test
‘stood as follows :—

“I, A. B, do voluntarily declare that I will perse-
vere in endeavouring to form a brotherhood of affection
among Irishmen of every religious persuasion, and
that I will also persevere in my endeavours to obtain
an equal, full, and adequate representation of all the
people of Ireland. I do further declare that neither
hopes nor fears, rewards nor punishments, shall ever
induce me, directly or indirectly, to inform or give
evidence against any member or members of this or
similar societies for any act or expression of theirs
done or made, collectively or individually, in or out of
this society, in pursuance of the spirit of this obliga-
tion.”

Clifford says that the Society assumed from the first
“the secrecy and somewhat of the ceremonial of Free-
masonry ;” but this is a mistake. There was no
secrecy until the Society was reconstituted in 1795,
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and very little of the Masonic element at any time.
He adds the rather ridiculous statement, that the
members wore constantly about the neck an amulet,
“containing the great principle which unites the
brotherhood in letters of gold on a ribbon striped with
all the original colours, enclosed in a sheath of white
silk, so as to represent the pure union of the mingled
rays, and the abolition of all superficial distinctions,
and all colours and shades of difference, for the sake
of one illustrious end.” I can find no trace of the
wearing of such an amulet in any of the memoirs
which I have consulted. The only symbols in use
among the United Irishmen were the Irish harp, with
or without a star over it, the shamrock, and clasped
hands, which appear on their seals, and were, at a
later period, displayed on their flags. There were no
ceremonies resembling those of Freemasonry used in
the initiation of members. The candidate for admis-
sion into the Society was merely taken into a room
apart from that in which the members were assembled,
and sworn upon the New Testament. There was no
grip in use, but when a member desired to test a
stranger, he said, “ T know U ;” to which the other, if
initiated, responded, “I know N ;” and the dialogue
was, if it was thought necessary, continued in that
manner all through the letters composing the words
United Irishmen.

According to the memoir drawn up in 1798 by
Arthur O’Connor, Macnevin, and the elder Emmet, it
“ was long before the skeleton of this organisation was
filled up. While the formation of these societies was
in agitation, the friends of liberty were gradually, but
with a timid step, advancing towards republicanism.
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They began to be convinced that it would be as easy
to obtain a revolution as reform, so obstinately was
the latter resisted ; and as the conviction impressed
itself on their minds they were inclined not to give
up the struggle, but to extend their views. It was
for this reason that in their test the words are, ‘an
equal representation of all the people of Ireland,’
without inserting the word Parliament. This test
embraced both the republicans and the reformers, and
. left to future circumstances to decide to which point
the common strength should be directed ; but still
the whole body, we are convinced, would rejoice to
stop short at reform. Another consideration, how-
ever, led reflecting United Irishmen to look towards a
republic and separation from England. This was the
war with France. They clearly perceived that their
strength was not likely to become speedily equal to
wresting from the English and borough interest in
Ireland even a reform; foreign assistance would,
therefore, perhaps become necessary. But foreign
assistance could only be hoped for in proportion as the
object to which it would be applied was important to
the party giving it. A reform in the Irish Parliament
was no object to the French ; a separation of Ireland
from England was a mighty one indeed. Thus they
reasoned,—Shall we, between two objects, confine
ourselves to the least valuable, even though it is
equally difficult to be obtained, if we consider the
relations of Ireland with the rest of Europe?”

The formation of the Orange association gave a new
impetus to the United Irishmen, and the affiliations
multiplied rapidly. It is evident from Tone’s Journal
that the leaders had already begun in 1795 to discuss
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the question of revolt and the French alliance; but
the first step in that direction was taken by the
French Government, as the agent of which, a Pro-
testant clergyman named Jackson, who had been
some time resident in Paris, visited England and
Ireland, in order to ascertain the views and feelings
of the people Jackson, who was far too simple for
such a mission, confided his object to a solicitor named
Cockayne, who, notw1thstand1ng the long friendship
between them, betrayed him to the British Govern-
ment. Jackson had obtained an introduction to
Tone, who, though he suspected him to be a spy of
the Government, entrusted him with a paper on the
state of Ireland, and the probabilities of the success of
a French invasion; and this criminatory document
was found upon Jackson when he was arrested.

On learning that Jackson was in prison (where he
committed suicide) and that this paper had been
found upon him, Tone adopted a course so much to
his own advantage and that of the United Irishmen
that it is difficult to understand the motives of the
Government in acceding to it. Through a friend, he
negotiated with the Government for his safety, stipu-
lating that he should be allowed to leave Ireland,
making no disclosures, and giving no pledge for the
future. The assent of the Government being obtained,
it was arranged between himself and the other leaders
of the United Irishmen that he should proceed to
Philadelphia, and there open a communication with
the French Government, with a view to obtaining its
assistance. On arriving in that city, he waited upon
Adet, the French Minister, who gave him no definite
encouragement, but desired him to draw up-a memoir
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on the state of Ireland, to be submitted to the French
Government.

Several months had elapsed without any response,
and he was preparing to settle in America, when he
received letters from Russell, Keogh, and other friends
in Ireland, acquainting him with the rapid progress
of the Society,and urging him, in the strongest manner,
to go to Paris, and endeavour to obtain a promise of
material aid in support of an insurrection. He con-
sulted his wife and his sister, both of whom urged him
to go to Paris; and then he visited Adet, who, having
just received despatches from the Directory, entered
heartily into the plan, and gave him credentials to
Delacroix, the French Minister of Foreign Affairs.
Tone’s brother returned to Ireland, conveying to the
executive committee of the United Irishmen the in-
telligence of what was being done, and to everybody
else the announcement that he had quietly settled
down as a farmer in New Jersey ; and, in the beginning
of 1796, Tone himself crossed the Atlantic again, and
proceeded to Paris, bearing a letter in cipher from
Adet to Delacroix.

He found the French Minister well disposed to
entertain the proposal of an invasiou of Ireland, but
totally ignorant of Irish politics and the state of the
country ; and General Clarke, then Minister of War,
unprepared to render assistance to the requisite extent,
and equally ignorant of the country of which his father
was a native. Only two thousand men and twenty

" thousand muskets were promised, and Tone insisted

that less than five thousand men would be useless.

He was becoming discouraged and anxious, when

Monroe, then ambassador of the United States in
VOL. I ¥
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Paris, advised him to obtain an audience of Carnot.
The “ organiser of victory” listened to him attentively,
and showed by his remarks that he had thought of
the matter before. He gave no definite assurance of
support, however, and Tone lingered on in Paris,
alternately sanguine and depressed, until May, when
Carnot informed him that an agent had been sent to
Ireland to ascertain the actual state of affairs, and
report thereon to the Directory.

In connexion with these negotiations, the memoir
drawn up by O’Connor, Emmet, and Macnevin in
1798 shows that, in May, an important meeting of the
directorate of the United Irishmen was held, “in con-
sequence of a letter from one of the Society who had
emigrated on account of his political opinions.” Tone’s
Memoirs have shown who that emigrant was. At this
meeting “it was contended,” says the memoir, “ that,
even according to the constitution and example of 1688,
when the protection of the constituted authorities was
withdrawn from the subject, allegiance, the reciprocal
duty, ceased to bind; when the wrongs of the people
were not redressed, they had a right to resist, and were
free to seek for allies wherever they were to be found.
The English revolutionists of 1688 called in the aid of a
foreign republic to overthrow their oppressors. There .
had sprung up in our own time a much more mighty
republic, which, by its offers of assistance to break the
chains of slavery, had drawn on itself a war with the
enemies of our freedom, and now particularly tendered
us its ald. These arguments prevailed; and it was
resolved to employ the proffered assistance for the pur-
pose of separation. We were aware it was suspected
that negotiations between the United Irishmen and
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the French were carried on at an earlier period than
that now alluded to; but we solemnly declare that
such suspicion was ill-founded. In consequence of
this determination of the executive, an agent was
despatched to the French Directory, who acquainted
them with it, stated the dispositions of the people,
and the measures which caused them.”

The agent referred to was Lord Edward Fitzgerald,
a younger son of the Duke of Leinster, and then in
his thirty-fourth year. ‘He had entered the army when
seventeen years of age, and served with distinction
in America; but retired from the*profession of arms
in 1790, on being told that he had barred his way to
farther promotion by declining to support the Govern-
ment as member for Kildare. At the period referred to
in the memoir he went to Switzerland, accompanied
by Arthur O’Connor, a gentleman of his own age, who
had been called to the bar, but, having a large estate,
had never exercised his profession. Fitzgerald and
O’Connor had an interview near the French frontier
with General Hoche, who had been selected by the
Directory for the command of the expedition which it
had at length been determined to despatch to Ireland,
and fully satisfied him that Tone and his views were
- trustworthy. At the end of June, Tone was informed
that the expedition would shortly be undertaken, that
~ Hoche would conduct it, and that he should himself
have the position of general of a brigade. A regular
communication had now been established between
France and Ireland, and Tone received letters from
the directorate of the United Irishmen, informing him
that fourteen counties, including the whole of the
north of Ireland, were completely organised for the

F2 '
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purpose of throwing off the English yoke, and that
the organisation of the remainder was rapidly advanc-
ing.

On the 12th of July, Tone had an interview with
Hoche at the Luxembourg Palace, and was informed
that the expedition would be in great force, and
accompanied by a large quantity of arms, ammuni-
tion, stores, and artillery, and that the general would,
for the sake of his own reputation, take.care that all
the arrangements should be made on a proper scale.
It consisted, in fact, when it sailed from Brest on the
16th of December,” of forty-three vessels, carrying
fifteen thousand men, forty-one thousand muskets,
twenty-nine cannon, sixty-one thousand barrels of
gunpowder, and seven millions of cartridges. The
British Government had got scent of the enterprise
by some means, and one of the spies in Brest endea-
voured to obtain from the printer a copy of the pro-
clamation intended to be circulated in Ireland, in the
event of a landing being effected ; but the printer gave
information of the endeavour to tamper with him to
Hoche, who desired him to print a special edition of a
single copy, in which Portugal and Portuguese should
be substituted for Ireland and Irishmen, wherever
they occurred. This was done ; and Sir John Colpoys,
who had been watching the fleet in Brest harbour for
some time, being deceived by this spurious proclama-
tion, sailed away with the Channel fleet at the critical
moment, leaving the sea open to the French expedi-
tion.

Bantry Bay was not originally intended to be the
place of disembarkation, and its selection after the
dispersion of the fleet by a storm had disconcerted
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Hoche’s plans was an after-thought. The original
intention has never transpired, and was said to have
been known only to Hoche and O’Connor. The latter
did not divulge it when under examination two years
later, but he appears to have subsequently communi-
cated it to other persons, having told Madden in 1842
that the secret was known to two persons then living.*
Why it should have been withheld from the world
when nearly half a century had elapsed since the
failure of the expedition, and the United Irishmen
had hecome a part of the past history of their country,
and their secrets of no more consequence than those
of the Illuminati, has not been explained, and cannot
now even be conjectured.

The leaders of the United Irishmen were deceived
concerning Hoche’s expedition as much as the British
Government. A messenger arrived from France in
the latter part of November, with the intelligence
that their allies might be expected very shortly ; and
a few days afterwards, when the messenger was on his
way back to France, they received a letter from an
apparently trustworthy source, informing them that
the expedition had been deferred, and would not sail
until the spring. This threw the directorate off their
guard, and prevented measures being taken to prepare
the people of the south of Ireland for the coming
descent upon the coast. There is some mystery about
the source of this false intelligence, unless we assume
that there were reservations among the members of
the Government, and that all the secrets of Downing
Street were not confided to Dublin Castle ; for Emmet,

® Madden's Memoirs of the United Irishmen.
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when under examination in 1798, was interrogated
concerning the cause of the popular quietude while
the French were in Bantry Bay, which seemed to have
somewhat puzzled the secret committee by which the
examination of the United Irishien was conducted.
In view of the impending invasion, the organisation
of the United Irishmen had received an important
modification in October. It was already admirably
adapted for the assembling of large bodies of men at a
very brief notice, and the change which it then under-
went, though significant, extended only to the nomen-
clature. The local secretaries became sergeants,
the lower baronial delegates were transformed into
captains, and the delegates of the upper baronial com-
mittees into colonels. The colonels of each county
recommended three of their number for the post of
adjutant-general, and from those names the directorate
selected one. The generals were appointed by the
directorate. Harwood attributes this change from a
civil to a military constitution to the formation of
Yeomanry Corps, in which the Catholics, though not
excluded, were received with such evident suspicion
and dislike that very few of the farmers of that com-
munion joined the new force. It is obvious, however, -
" that the Catholics might have outnumbered the Pro-
testants in the Yeomanry Corps, if they had been so
disposed ; and the resolution of the United Irishmen
to resort to arms sufficiently explains the conversion
of the Society into an army, without the supposition
of other and minor motives. .
Arming - and drilling went on throughout the
autumn of 1796, those who were unable to buy a
musket or bayonet being provided with vikes. Men
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were drilled by twelves in the houses of members, and
in larger numbers on lonely wastes, by the light of
the moon. The number of United Irishmen enrolled
at this time in the province of Ulster alone was about
a hundred thousand, and there were probably nearly
as many in the province of Munster, and more than
half that number in the province of Leinster. How
many men of this large force were armed with muskets
18 unknown; bub there can be no doubt that the
majority had only pikes, with the addition in some
casés of a pistol. They are said to have possessed
“some artillery,”* but the guns were probably few
and small. ;

The failure of Hoche’s expedition disposed the
leaders of the United Irishmen to more moderate
courses, and the concession of Catholic emancipation
and Parliamentary reform would have been received
with satisfaction, and been followed by the disarming
and dissolution of the Society. Such a settlement of
the Irish difficulty was thought probable in the be-
ginning of 1797, but the illusion soon faded out, and
the determination of the Government to adopt with
vigour a policy of repression left the organisers of the
movement no other course than resistance. Insur-
rection could be, in the existing condition of the
country, only a question of time, and they could not
withdraw from its direction without bringing eternal
dishonour on their names.

All through the winter troops were poured into
the country, the yeomanry armed and trained,
hundreds of arrests made, suspected persons banished

#* Harwood.
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without trial, and outrages committed by the troops
and the yeomanry which rivalled those of the De-
fenders and the Peep-of-Day Boys. The office of the
Northern Star, a Belfast journal conducted by Neilson
and representing the United Irishmen, was one day
attacked by soldiers, who broke open the doors, de-
stroyed the printing presses, and threw the type into
the street. No redress for such outrages could be
obtained, the authorities seeming to regard persons
suspected of disaffection to the Government as beyond
the pale of the law. Landowners and substantial
{armers who fell under the suspicion of the authorities
had soldiers quartered upon them, often in numbers
and for periods which made the visitation a heavy
tax upon their means. 'This practice seems not to
have been without disadvantages to the Government,
for, on one occasion, when a large party of soldiers
was billeted upon Roger. O’Connor, the brother of
Arthur, and father of Feargus O’Connor, the officers
sat over their wine until they were all more or less
intoxicated, when their host proceeded to the servants’
hall, where the rank and file were revelling, and in-
duced the whole of them to take the oath™ of the
United Irishmen. Two or three of them were after-
wards shot on suspicion of disloyalty, but none of them
informed against O’Connor.*

Under these circumstances, arming and drilling
were actively proceeded with among the United Irish-
men, and by the spring the system was in its fullest
vigour. The organisation was extensive and efficient,
the zeal and confidence of the people unbounded, and

# Autobiography of Feargus O’Connor.
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the temper of a large proportion of the militia such
that their co-operation in an insurrection was deemed
certain. Some changes took place in the directorate
which tended to give additional vigour to the move-
ment. Arthur O’Connor had been elected in the pre-
ceding November, and Thomas Addis Emmet and
Oliver Bond, a barrister and a wholesale woollen-draper,
became his colleagues early in 1797. Madden says
that Bond declined to act officially, but continued in
the confidence of his co-directors, and was consulted
by them on all important occasions. As the instruc-
tions sent to the provincial committees were signed
by only one member of the directorate, it seems that
this must be understood to mean only that Bond
never signed such instructions. It isnot certain who
the other memhers of the directorate were at this
time, the precaution just referred to rendering it
difficult, and in some instances impossible, to deter-
mine who composed the executive at any particular
period. Madden says that Macormick, a Dublin
manufacturer, was one, “ though not ostensibly, or by
specific appointment, belonging to it.” This is unin-
telligible, as Macormick could not have sat on the
directorate, according to the constitution of the Society,
without having been elected. Lord Cloneurry is said
to have been a member of the directorate at one time,
but took no active part in the proceedings.*

The new directorate had scarcely been constituted
when O’Connor was arrested, apparently on a vague
suspicion only, since he was liberated, after an incar-
ceration of six months, on undertaking to surrender

# Madden.
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growth of anarchy and crime with supineness, had now
commenced a course of vigorous and systematic
repression ; and as every day confirmed their appre-
hensions of the extent and power of the United Irish-
men, power was obtained from Parliament to disarm
the people, and to disperse by force assemblages which
might be deemed to have a tendency to riot, without
waiting for the authorisation of a magistrate. It was
easier, however, to determine upon this policy than to
realise it. As Arthur O’Connor afterwards reminded
Lord Clare, they could not frame a bill of indictment
against a whole people ; and the United Irishmen had
now assumed a formidable extent and consistency.
Very little progress could be made in disarming the
people, who were exasperated rather than subdued by
the proclamation of martial law, and meetings were
heard of only after they had been held. Bribery and
espionage were, therefore, resorted to on an extensive
scale, and on the 14th of April information was
obtained. by these means that two committees of
United Irishmen were sitting in Belfast. Troops -
thereupon surrounded the house where the committees
met, and fifteen persons were arrested, and papers
seized, which were referred to a secret cominittee
sitting at Dublin Castle.

“It appears,” says the report of this committee,
“from a variety of evidence, that no means are
neglected for establishing their constitution and
enforcing obedience to their laws; that eontributions
are levied to defray the expenses of the society; that
threats and intimidations are employed against
witnesses and jurymen, as a means to prevent their

asgociates from being brought to justice, and that a
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committee is appointed to defray the expenses of de-
fending such as are brought to trial, or are in prison;
that the assistance of the French is expected, and held
forth as negotiated for; that at Belfast alome exist
eighty societies at least, and that emissaries are em-
ployed to extend these societies ; that arms and am-
munition are procured, pikes bought, officers
appointed, military discipline recommended, and en-
forced by oaths to be taken by officers and men ; pro-
vision for the families of their Seociety during their
exertions in the field; that suspected persons are
brought to account for their actions; and it has been
stated in evidence that a tribunal is appointed for this
purpose, who try the offenders in their absence, and
determine their punishment, even to the death.”
Harwood pronounces the latter passages, false, and
no evidence was adduced in support of the allegation,
which may have been fabricated by the spies and in-
formers upon whom the Government depended, in a
great measure, for their information. That such
horrible means of earning their blood-money were re-
sorted to by those infamous wretches is established by
the subsequent confession of one of them, a scoundrel
named Newell, an artist by profession, and a traitor by
inborn disposition, who betrayed the secrets of the
United Irishmen to the Government, and then sold
the secrets of the Grovernment to his former associates.
This man not only declared that Cooke, the secretary
of the Irish Government, made additions to his affida-
vits, and prompted him to denounce men whom he did
not know, but confessed that, when giving evidence
before the secret committee, he “improved largely on
the hints and instructions Mr. Cooke had given, pro-
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pagated circumstances which never had, nor I sup-
pose ever will happen, increased the number of
United Irishmen, and the quantity of arms and am-
munition, and fabricated stories which helped to terrify
them, and raised me high in their estimation as a man
whose perfect knowledge of this business made his
information of the highest importance.” After ten
months of a life ““fraught,” as he confesses, “ with
every scene of infamy, luxury, and debauchery, during
which I must have cost the Government no less than
two thousand pounds,” this execrable wretch left
Dublin, and made the confession from which the fore-
going passages have been quoted.

The Government, alarmed by the extent and
efficiency of the organisation of the United Irishmen,
now offered the Royal pardon to all who surrendered
and took the oath of allegiance on or before the 24tk
of June, excepting persons guilty of felony, and those
already in custody. The directorate, aware that the
measures of the Government would not allow them to
be inactive, sent Lewins, a Dublin attorney, to Paris
in March, 1797, to urge the French Government to
make another effort in support of the cause of revolu-
tion in Ireland. The communication was difficult at
that time, and Lewins had to travel via Hamburg,
under the assumed name of Thompson. Rheynhart,
the French Minister at Hamburg, furnished him with
credentials to Hoche, with whom he had a conference
at Frankfort, whence he proceeded to Paris. Neither
Lewins nor Dr. Macnevin, who followed him in June,
with an elaborate memoir on the state of Ireland,
could at first obtain from the Dlrectory more than
professions of sympathy and promises of the vaguest
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character ; but in July the directorate received a letter
from the former, informing them that an expedition,
intended for the invasion of Ireland, would shortly be
despatched from the Texel. The Dutch fleet being
encountered and defeated by Admiral Duncan, the
hopes which the United Irishmen based on foreign
aid were again frustrated; hut towards the close of
the year, Lewins, who had remained in Paris as the
accredited agent of the Society, after the return of
Macnevin 130 Ireland in October, informed the direc-
torate that the attempt to land a French force in
Ireland would be renewed in the following spring, and
their hopes were raised once more to a high pitch.
Macnevin was elected to the directorate shortly
after his return from Paris, and in February, 1798, a
military committee was appointed, with instructions
to prepare a plan for the co-operation of the United
Irishmen with their French allies, and for an insur-
rection without foreign aid in the event of theinvasion
failing, or an outbreak being precipitated by the
measures of the Government before the invaders
arrived. This contingency the directorate, notwith-
standing the large force at their command, were
anxious to avoid. It was estimated by Lord Edward
Fitzgerald that the armed force of the United Irish-
men was nearly two hundred and eighty thousand
men, but the funds in hand amounted to less than
fifteen hundred pounds. The greatest strength of the
association was in Ulster, where it numbered about
one hundred and ten thousand members. Munster
came next, with about a hundred thousand. In Con-
naught it had not obtained a footing. Naturally a
larger deduction must be made from the numbers
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shown on paper from a force of revolutionary origin
than from the regular forces of a lawfully constituted
State ; and Madden states that he had reason to know
that Lord Edward Fitzgerald did not calculate upon
placing more than a hundred thousand effectives in
the field. :

The explanation of this large deduction is found in
the fact that the Association was at this time in a less
vigorous condition than it had been a year before.
Disappointment and delay, treachery, and the sus-
picion of treachery, had sapped its strength. The
numbers had increased, for it is rarely that members
of a secret society withdraw their names; but the
spirit of the men was evaporating, the subscriptions
had fallen off, and fewer members attended the
meetings, whether of local societies or committees.
They were as ready to take the field as they had ever
been, but, like raw soldiers, who will charge the enemy
with boldness, but cannot be kept steady under a fire
which they cannot return, they were shaken by the
knowledge that treachery was among them, and that
they had yet months to wait for the French.

The full extent of that treachery will never be
known. There is a fearful suggestiveness in the
guarded statement of Madden that “the betrayers of
the Society were not the poor or inferior members of
it ; some of them were high in the confidence of the
Directory ; others not sworn in, but trusted with its
concerns, learned in the law, social in their habits,
liberal in politics, prodigal in their expenses, needy in
their circumstances, and therefore covetous of money ;
loose in their public and private principles, and there-
fore open to temptation.” A copy of the memoir
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drawn up for the French Government in 1797 found
its way into the possession of Cooke, the Irish secre-
tary, through unknown hands. Macnevin told the
secret committee, when under examination on the
subject of the negotiations in which he took part, that
it could have been obtained only by “some person in
the pay of England and in the confidence of France.”
That person has not been named, unless by implica-
tion. Madden seems disposed to impute treachery to
some member of the French Government; but, while
the moral character of more than one member of the
Directory did not rank high, there were others to
whom the remark of Macnevin equally applied, and
who, being in an inferior position, were more
accessible, and likely to have proved corruptible at a
cheaper rate.

There was treachery among the partisans of the
Government, however, as well as among the United
Irishmen. O’Connor told the secret committee that
minute information of every act of the Government
was obtained by the directorate. Relations were
maintained between O’Connor and Cox which are
inexplicable, unless by the hypothesis that the latter
betrayed such secrets of the Castle as became known
to him in the course of his communications with
Cooke. There were men, too, in a much higher social
position than Cox—members of the upper classes of
Irish society, on terms of confidence with Lord Clare
and with Lord Castlereagh—who had friends or rela-
tives among the United Irishmen—Lord Edward
Fitzgerald, Lord Cloncurry, and Arthur O’Connor,
for instances, to whom, in confidence, as a proof of
their friendship, or in the unguarded hours of con-

VOL. I. e}
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viviality, they imparted their knowledge of the
Governmental designs and intentions.

This is not mere inference or surmise. Madden
asserts, on the authority of Macnevin, that members of
the Privy Council and general officers then serving in
Ireland were among those privately known to be
favourably disposed towards the United Irishmen.
That the costs of the defence of the leaders were borne
by officers of distinction there can be no doubt.
Bernard Duggan, who was deeply implicated in the
conspiracy, told Madden that he should have been
hanged if ample means of obtaining legal assistance
had not been timeously supplied by officers serving
in the district in which he was confined, and to whom
he was utterly unknown. There was more than
private friendship in this ; more, it may reasonably be
inferred, than the ordinary promptings of humanity.
Some of these military friends of the movement may
be traced. IDuggan named Colonel Lumm as the
officer by whom the money for his defence was sent.
This officer and Major Plunkett were among the
friends who visited Lord Edward Fitzgerald in his
prison.* © Teeling, speaking of persons who, from the
position in which they stood towards the Government,
must have made great sacrifices and incurred con-
siderable risk in communicating with the leaders of
the United Irishmen, says that he was conversing one
evening with Lord Edward Fitzgerald, when Colonel
Lumm entered, accompanied by two other gentlemen
unknown to him, but whom he believed were members
of the Irish Parliament. Lumm embraced Fitzgerald

* Moore’s Life and Death of Lord Edward Fitzgerald.
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with fraternal warmth of affection, and said, placing a
heavy bag of gold before him, ““There, my lord, is
provision for Teeling does not appear to have
heard the concluding words of the sentence, but he adds,
“ A few hours would have placed Lord Edward at the
head of the troops of Kildare.”* To these statements
I need add only that Colonel Lumm was arrested in
England in May, 1798, and taken to Dublin in the
custody of a King’s messenger.

Ireland, towards the close of 1797, resembled a fire
which has apparently been extinguished, but the
embers of which still glow, and may be fanned into a
blaze by the lightest breeze. There was an appearance
of quietude which led superficial observers to believe
that the people had been coerced into submission.
But beneath this seeming calm discontent was still
rife, and the elements of revolt were drawing rapidly
to a head. The organisation of the United Irishmen
was being extended in Munster, and pushing its rami-
fications into Connaught, where it had previously
been unknown. Emissaries from Dublin and Belfast
traversed those provinces in every direction, frater-
nising with the Defenders, who were absorbed into
the United Irish system during the autumn and
winter by the skilful manipulation of these agents,
who adapted their language to their listeners, and,
while refraining from descanting on the rights of man,
were eloquent on the question of the land and the
tithes.

The views and aims of these new adherents naturally
presented a wide divergence from those of the chiefs

# Personal Narrative of the Irish Rebellion.
G2
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of the conspiracy. As observed by Harwood, “ the
ideas of the Emmets, Neilsons, and Macnevins were
not their ideas. The United Irish system was, to
them, little else than the old system of Defenderism,
or Whiteboyism, under a new name, made efficient and
respectable by an unlooked-for accession of allies from
the middle and higher classes of society. But how-
ever defective their theory of republican government,
they were perfectly well versed in the practice of re-
bellion ; and this union of the intellectual with the.
physical force of the country—this alliance of the
speculative republicanism of the Presbyterian north
with the practical wrongs and wretchedness of the
Catholic south—boded for the coming year a con-
vulsion desperate and deadly.”

The execution of Orr, which foreshadowed the com-
ing terror, showed the anxiety of the Government
concerning this mysterious organisation, and filled the
minds of the disaffected with thoughts of revenge.
Orr, who was a man of the highest character, and
respected by all who knew him, was charged with
administering the oath of the United Irishmen to a
soldier of the Scotch Fencibles, who was the only wit-
ness against him, and was shown to be a man of in-
famous life and repute. He was convicted, however,
and condemned to death. The jury had recommended
him to mercy, and the most strenuous efforts were
made to procure a commutation of the sentence.
Three of the jury made affidavits that whisky was
given to them during their deliberations; that some
of them were threatened with the vengeance of the
Government if they acquitted the prisoner, and others
assured that the Government wished only to obtain a
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conviction, and that the life of the accused was safe:
~ and that the verdict was given under the influence of
drink, intimidation, and the physical exhaustion of a
deliberation of thirteen hours. In such circumstances
the Government might well hesitate. Orr was three
times respited, and was offered his life if he would
confess his guilt. He refused, and his execution
followed. His last words —¢“ Remember Orr !”—
dwelt long in the memory of his countrymen, and were
often repeated during the following year as the watch-
words of conspiracy and the battle-cry of revolt.

The execution of Orr was followed by the arrest of
sixteen United Irishmen on information given by
O’Brien, one of the infamous wretches who had lately
been taken into the service of the Irish Government,
and who achieved an unenviable notoriety as the Bat-
talion of Testimony. This man, who was the chief
witness against the accused, had been a common in-
former against persons who infringed the excise
regulations, and who would not purchase his silence
by submitting to his extortions ; and had also, as he
confessed under cross-examination, been concerned in
the fabrication of spurious coin. The prisoners were
defended by Curran and Macnally, two of the most
eminent members of the Irish bar.* During the trial

#* Curran was never affiliated to the United Irishmen, though he
sympathised deeply with the movement, and was intimate with the
leaders. He thought he could serve the cause better by keeping aloof
from the Society. Macnally was a member, as was Grattan also.
From the subsequent award of a pension to Macnally, and the fact of
the initials L. N., supposed to mean Leonard Nally, occurring in the
Irish secret service accounts, Madden concludes Macnally to have been
an informer against the United Irishmen; but the md.ence is weak
.and insufficient.

i
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the defending counsel received information that per-
jury on the part of O'Brien could be proved if time
was allowed for the journey to Dublin of an important
witness. Knowing that no indulgence was to be ex- -
pected from the Crown, Macnally protracted his cross-
examination of the witnesses for the prosecution until
the witness arrived, when O’Brien’s perjury was
proved, and the prisoners were acquitted. O’Brien
was hanged two years afterwards for a brutal murder,
an immense concourse of people hailing his well-
deserved fate with shouts of exultation. Wheatley,
the soldier who had informed against Orr, confessed
afterwards that he also had committed perjury.

The execution of Orr, the narrow escape of Finney
and his companions, the irritation excited by the
search for arms, the general presentiment of an im-
pending convulsion, all tended at this time to produce
in the eastern and southern counties a condition bor-
dering closely upon anarchy. During the months of
February and March many parts of the provinces of
Leinster and Munster were overrun by lawless bands,
which, by confining their incursions and ravages to
the hours of darkness, rendered their operations more
difficult to be repressed by, the regular troops and
yeomanry. Not a night passed without murders and
incendiary fires. Several districts had been proclaimed
under the extraordinary powers given by Parliament
to the Lord-Lieutenant and Council; but “these
measures proved ineffectual. Very many of the loyal
inhabitants of the counties of Cork, Limerick, Tippe-
rary, Kilkenny, Carlow, King’s County, Queen’s
County, Kildare, and Wicklow were, in the course of
one month, stripped of their arms, and in many places
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obliged to fly for shelter into the garrison towns; and
as one instance among many of the daring lengths to
which the conspirators at this time had proceeded,
eight hundred insurgents, principally mounted, in-
vested the town of Cahir, in the county of Tipperary,
in open day, held possession of it until they had made-
a regular search through every house, and carried off
in triumph all the arms and ammunition they could
find.* ' '

Fear engenders cruelty; and the Government,
baffled in their endeavours to suppress the United
Irishmen by the firmness of Orr and the failure of the
perjury of O’Brien, sanctioned, if they did not initiate,
a system of terrorism over the whole island. I will
not harrow the feelings of the reader by reproducing
the terrible scenes of torture and murder, the floggings,
the pitch-cappings, the hangings, and the burnings,
which have been related by Madden, and Plowden,{
and Harwood, and which Sir Richard Musgrave} has
attempted to justify, but which no writer has denied.
I will merely remark that these horrible outrages
tended to precipitate the rebellion, of which Arthur
O’Connor deposed before the secret committee they
were the cause, and that their effect on the mind of
Sir John Moore, who held an important command in
Ireland at that time, was such that he once declared
to a friend that if he had been an Irishman he should
have been a rebel.

There is no doubt that the Government, having
succeeded neither in disarming the United Irishmen,

# Report of the Secret Committee. + History of Ireland.
1 History of the Rebellion,
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nor in discovering their leaders, wished at this time
to bring the conspiracy fo a head, and crush it at once.
The leaders of the Society saw no other means of
bringing to an end the prevailing system of anarchy
and terror; the rank and file were burning for action
and for reprisals. Everything tended, therefore, to
precipitate an outbreak. The hope of aid from France
grew fainter every day. Hoche was now dead, Carnot
politically proscribed, Buonaparte in Egypt. Emmet
and some others, the more clear-headed of the leaders
of the United Irishmen, had always been of the
opinion that dependence on France was a fatal mis-
take ; and the journals of the Society show that the
French alliance had kept them always waiting and
expecting, alternately elated by delusive hopes, and
cast down by disappointment.

The executive committee consisted at this time
of Lord Edward Fitzgerald, Oliver Bond, Arthur
O’Connor, Dr. Macnevin, and the elder Emmet. At
-a meeting of the provincial committee of Leinster,
held in February, Fitzgerald proposed an immediate
rising, which was objected to by some of the members,
on the ground that it would be better to wait for the
arrival of the promised expedition from France.
Fitzgerald told them that no aid was to be expected
from that quarter ; and, after some discussion, it was
resolved to take immediate measures for a general in-
surrection.

As a last effort to obtain aid from France, however,
O’Connor left Dublin at this time, and proceeded to
London, where he remained some time, while Binns,
one of four other United Irishmen who accompanied

, him, visited Whitstable, Deal, and Margate, en-
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deavouring to hire a small vessel to convey them to
France. During his stay in London, O’Connor was
frequently the guest of Fox, and in close and con-
fidential communication with him concerning the
state of Ireland, and the organisation of the United
Irishmen, with whose views and objects Fox was pro-
bably well acquainted. On the 27th, his servant,
- O’Leary, accompanied a priest named Coigly, and
another United Irishman, named Allen, to Margate,
where they were joined the same day by O’Connor
and Binns, under the assumed names of Morris and
Williams. The previous movements of Binns having
been tracked by police-officers of the Bow Street
establishment, a party of those red-vested janizaries
followed them from London, and arrested the whole
party next morning at their hotel. In O’Connor’s
trunks a green military uniform was found, together
with nine hundred pounds in gold and some papers,
-among which was a key to a cipher correspondence
with Lord Edward Fitzgerald.

The chief evidence against the prisoners, however,
was a paper, purporting to be a memoir prepared by a
“secret committee of England” for the French Go-
vernment, inviting the enemy to invade England,
~which was found in a pocket-book, in the pocket of
an overcoat belonging to Coigly. This document
formed the groundwork of the prosetution when the
prisoners were brought to trial at Maidstone on the
21st of May, but there was no evidence to connect
the United Irishmen with its purpose, and, with the
.exception of Coigly, they were acquitted. On this
.occasion, Fox, Erskine, and Sheridan, who had known
O’Connor three years, and Grattan, who had been
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intimately acquainted with him for six years, testified
to his being “a man of the strictest honour and in-
tegrity,” “ highly enlightened, and firmly attached to
the principles which had seated the reigning family on
the throne.”

On the conclusion of the trial, at ten o’clock at
night, a scene ensued which has been variously
described by the different writers whose narrations
of the events of the period have been published.
Madden says that the verdict was no sooner delivered
than an attempt was made by Bow Street officers to
arrest O’Connor on ancther charge before he could
leave the dock ; and that, on O’Connor breaking from
them, and rushing into the body of the Court, a body
of Bow Street officers appeared, and a scene of great
confusion ensued, swords being drawn, and several
persons knocked down, before O’Connor was over-
powered, and dragged back to the dock.

Feargus O’Connor related the incident very dif-
ferently. “The trial,” as he told the story, “lasted
all day, and a considerable portion of the night. The
Government felt satisfied that his death would be
insured ; but, lest they should be disappointed, there
was another indictment prepared against him in case
he should be acquitted. He was acquitted, and when
the verdict was pronounced, Lord Thanet and .Cutlar
Ferguson, subsequently a member of Parliament, and
one of the Ministers, stood on each side of the
dock ; they blew out the candles, and my uncle being
a very active man, he put one hand upon the shoulder
of Lord Thanet, and the other upon Cutlar Ferguson’s,
when he jumped out of the dock, and made his escape.

However, as he was running down a street, he was
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tripped up by a constable, and again taken into
custody. Of course he was perfectly aware that the
Government would use its every influence to secure
his death, and therefore he entered into a condition to
be transported for life.* Lord Thanet was sentenced
to twelve months’ imprisonment, and Cutlar Fergu-
son to six, for assisting him to make his escape.”

The version given by the brother of Binns makes
Coigly the central figure of this strange scene. He
says: “Sentence of death was passed on Coigly at
night. The Court-house was lit with lamps. Coigly
was near escaping; the terror in the Court was
extreme; the cry of ‘ put out the lights’ was heard ;
there were swords drawn in Court, and, in the scuffle,
O’Connor received some blows; Lord Thanet was
arrested for rioting in court. The fact is, prepara-
tions were made for effecting the prisoner’s escape,
and fast horses were engaged, and in readiness on the
road, to facilitate Coigly’s flight.”

There are similar discrepancies as to the crimina-
tory document found in the pocket-book supposed to
be Coigly’s. The priest asserted that he knew
nothing about it, and even upon the scaffold repeated
the assertion in the most solemn manner, This
statement has been contradicted, however, both by
O’Connor and the brother of Binns, in their com-
munications to Madden ; and the account of the paper
given by Binns agrees with the statement made after
Coigly’s execution, by the counsel who defended
O’Leary—namely, that Coigly received the memoir
from Dr. Crossfield, a member of the London Corre-

* Feargus 0’Connor was not well informed on this point.
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sponding Society, with instructions to procure its
insertion in the Moniteur, for the purpose of alarming
and distracting the British Government, and that
Coigly went to the scaffold rather than betray Cross-
field. '

One of the members of the Leinster provincial com-
mittee at this time was Thomas Reynolds, who had
been a silk manufacturer in Dublin, but had retired
from business, and purchased the castle and estate of
Kilkea. He had been initiated into the Society by
Bond early in 1797, and advanced quickly to the
grade of captain, or lower baronial delegate. In
November he succeeded Lord Edward Fitzgerald,
at the Jatter’s request, as colonel of the barony of
Kilkea, Fitzgerald having reason at that time to be-
lieve that he was suspected by the Government. He
seems seldom to have attended the meetings of the
baronial committee, however, and, if his own account
1s to be believed, had no knowledge of the conspiracy
until February, 1798, when he attended a county com-
mittee, held at the Nineteen Mile House, on the road
to Dublin, and was elected delegate to the provincial
committee. Alarmed by what he then heard, he
failed to attend the meeting of the Leinster com-
mittee on the following day, and proceeded to Dublin
to remonstrate with the leading conspirators.

Warned by Neilson that they would “have no
half-measure men,” and laughed at for his fears by
others, he resolved to withdraw from the Society, and
take measures which he hoped would “so neutralise
the plans of the United Irishmen as to stop them,
without compromising their personal safety, and at
once save his country, his friends, and his own
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honour.”* While considering the means of realising
this intention—so often indulged in similar circum-
stances, but never accomplished—he encountered an
old friend, a merchant named Cope, who, in the course
of a conversation on the state of the country, per-
suaded him that wealth and honours would be
liberally bestowed by the Government upon any cne
who would betray the secret organisation which they
had vainly expended so much money, and taken so
much pains, to unearth. Reynolds said that he knew
a person who was disposed to do so, but protested
that he was actuated by higher motives than the hope
of reward ; and at length took Cope into his confi-
dence, revealed the plan of the conspiracy, and
informed him that the final meeting would be held
at Bond’s house on the 12th of March.

Bond was the only one of the conspirators whom
Reynolds had named ; but, knowing that few, if any,
of the leaders would escape if they attended the meet-
ing, and wishing to save Lord Edward Fitzgerald, he
visited him on the day before that fixed for the
meeting, and showed him a paper containing secret
orders for the Yeomanry Corps, of a tenour indicating
that the authorities were on the alert to meet and
suppress some impending commotion. The manner
in which this paper came into - the ‘informer’s
possession is one of the many singular circumstances
connected with this conspiracy, which seems explicable
only by the supposition of the double treachery of
which there were several instances. Reymnolds sup-
posed its production to have had the desired effect.

#* Life of Thomas Reynolds, by his Son.
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Fitzgerald became agitated, and Reynolds inferred
from his absence from the meeting on the following
day that he took the alarm, and resolved not to attend.
The inference is unwarranted, either by reason or
facts. If Fitzgerald had resolved not to attend the
meeting, he would have communicated with his col-
leagues, which he did not do; and the real cause of
his absence was that, having reached the corner of the
street in which Bond’s house was situated, he saw
Major Sirr and his party enter, and immediately re-
traced his steps.

On the following day Bond’s house was sur-
rounded by soldiers, and himself and thirteen others,
forming the provincial committee of Leinster, were
arrested, and their journals and correspondence seized.
Emmet and Macnevin were arrested at their homes
about the same time. The prisoners were taken to
the Castle for a preliminary examination, after which
they were all committed to Newgate gaol on the charge
of treason.

These arrests did not damp the ardour or weaken
the resolves of the United Irishmen. The Leinster
provincial committee was reconstituted before night,
and probably the executive also, though only John
Sheares is known to have immediately taken the
place of one of the arrested directors of the move-
ment. The new chief was a barrister of good repute,
loved and respected by all who knew him, and, with
his brother, had been in the society almost from its
commencement. A letter was received shortly after-
wards from Teeling, who was then in Paris, informing
the Leinster provincial committee that a new ex-
pedition would be despatched from France in April;
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but it was resolved that the rising should take place
this time, whether the French came or not, and arm-
ing and drilling, and the formation of depdts of
military stores, went on actively.

Early in May the plan of the insurrection was fully
arranged, and the day fixed for its execution. The
United Irishmen of the counties of Dublin, Wicklow,
and Kildare were to advance simultaneously upon the
capital under the direction of Lord Edward Fitz-
gerald, surprise the camp at Loughlinstown and the
artillery depdt at Chapelizod, and seize Lord Camden,
Lord Clare, Lord Castlereagh, and other members of
the Irish Government, who were to be held as
hostages. The detention of the mails was to be the
signal for the rising of the United Irishmen all over
the island.

Lord Camden had, in the meantime, issued a pro-
clamation announcing that a conspiracy against the
Crown and Government had been discovered; that
acts of violence and rebellion had been committed in
divers parts of the country; and that all the forces at
his disposal would be employed with the utmost
rigour and decision to suppress the rebellion, and
disarm all disaffected persons by the most summary
and effectual measures. All the spies and informers
attached to the Castle were at the same time employed
in endeavouring to discover the hiding-place of Lord
Edward Fitzgerald, for whose arrest a reward of one
thousand pounds was offered, and to ascertain who
had succeeded the men in custody in the direction of
the conspiracy. Lord Castlereagh had found it neces-
sary to obtain the services for such purposes of men
in a higher social position than O’Brien, and secret
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service money found its way into the pockets of such
men as Sir George Hill and Captain Armstrong. The
accounts of Cooke, secretary to Lord Clare, record
several payments of secret service money to the
former between the autumn of 1797 and the close of
1799 ; and the latter earned indelible infamy as the
betrayer of the brothers Sheares, whose friend he
bad pretended to be, and whose hospitality he had
shared.

One of the principal booksellers in Dublin at that
time was Byrne, who had joined the United Irishmen,
and whose shop was a favourite lounge of liberal-
minded men of all professions. Among those who
resorted to it for the literary and political gossip
of the day was Captain Armstrong, whose con-
versations with Byrne led the latter to regard him as
what the present generation calls “an advanced
Liberal.” The political views which he expressed
were so far advanced that Byrne, on the 10th of May,
did not hesitate to infroduce him to John Sheares as
“a true brother,” and to usher them into a private
room behind the shop, in order that they might con-
verse at their ease. Armstrong at once declared
himself in favour of the national movement, and
offered his aid ; and Sheares, naturally open-hearted,
and thrown off his guard by Byrne's sponsorship of
Armstrong, and the latter’s well-assumed enthusiasm,
informed him that the rising was at hand, and that he
might assist it by seducing the soldiers in the camp
at Lehaunstown. An appointment was made for the
18th at the house of Henry Sheares, in Bagot Street,
where the conversation was renewed, John Sheares
becoming more and more confidential. On returning
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to the camp at Lehaunstown, Armstrong communi-
cated to Colonel Lestrange, the commandant, all that
he had heard, and also made a communication on
the subject to Lord Castlereagh. During the follow-
ing week he was a frequent visitor at the house of
Henry Sheares, and on the 20th he gleaned from the
brothers all the details of the conspiracy, which he
immediately communicated to the Castle.

The crisis was now at hand, the 23rd having been
fixed for the rising. Lord Edward Fitzgerald was
arrested on the day preceding the final interview of
Armstrong with the unsuspecting brothers Sheares.
He had frequently changed his lodging since the
arrests of the 12th of March, and his various places of
hiding were known only to the leaders of the United
Irishmen. During this period of anxiety and excite-
ment he had some narrow escapes. On one occasion,
about the middle of May, when he and Neilson had
ridden from Dublin to the borders of Kildare, they
_ were stopped at Palmerstown by the patrol, and ques-
tioned as to their business. Neilson prefended in-
toxication to avoid answering, and Fitzgerald, who
described himself as a sargeon, gave an account of
the purpose of his journey which was accepted as
satisfactory. In his walks about Dublin on the busi-
ness of the conspiracy he was always attended by
half a dozen friends of tried courage, who walked in
advance of him, followed in the rear, and watched
from the opposite side of the street. Colonel Lumm
and Major Plunkett were among the friends who
formed this escort.

He was tracked, however, to a house in Thomas
Street, and arrested there by a party of soldiers, led

VOL. L H
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by Major Sirr, Major Swan, and a yeomanry captain
named Ryan. The circumstances of the arrest Lave
been variously related. Murphy, the occupier of the
house, who was arrested at the same time, says that
Lord Edward Fitzgerald was lying on the bed, partly
undressed, when Major Swan entered the room, and
that he immediately sprang from the bed, drew a
dagger, and struck Swan, inflicting a slight wound.
Swan then discharged a pistol, but missed his aim,
and thereupon retreated. The Duke of Portland, in
a private letter, quoted by Madden, says that *“ Lord
Edward, who was armed with a case of pistols and a
dagger, stood on his defence, shot Mr. Ryan in the
stomach, and wounded Mr. Swan with the dagger in
two places. Major Sirr, on entering the room, and
observing Lord Edward with the dagger uplifted in
his hands, fired at him, and wounded him in the arm
of the hand that held the weapon, upon which he was
secured.” The Duke of Portland must have been
misled by unfounded statements received from others.
Fitzgerald had no pistols: the dagger, which had a
horn hilt and a zigzag blade, was one of several that
were made for the leaders of the United Irishmen, by
a cutler in Bridge Street, named Byrne. But the
concluding portion of this statement agrees with the
accounts given by Sirr himself, in a letter to Ryan’s
son, which appeared in the London journals in 1839,
and by the'younger Ryan, who, in an account pub-
lished at the same time, states that ““ Major Swan first
entered Lord Edward’s apartment, and, on finding
his lordship, cried out, ‘ You are my prisoner;’ upon
which the Ilatter aimed a blow with his dagger
at Swan, who parried it with his hand. The
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blade, after passing the fingers, glanced along the
side, inflicting a superficial wound, of which he reco-
vered in about a fortnight. Swan, thus wounded,
exclaimed, ‘ Ryan, Ryan, I am basely murdered!
Captain Ryan, who had been searching another part of
the house, on hearing this exclamation, immediately
ran in, and, seizing Lord Edward, threw him back on
the bed, where a violent struggle ensued, in which
Captain Ryan received an awful wound in the stomach.
He instantly started up, and attempted to use a
sword-cane. A most unequal contest followed, and
lasted for about ten minutes, in the course of which
Captain Ryan, unarmed, resolutely maintained his
grasp of his prisoner, who, with desperate ferocity,
inflicted wound after wound, to the number of four-
teen. Captain Ryan’s hands being disabled, he clung
round Lord Edward with his legs, and, though
dragged through the room towards the door, effec-
tually prevented Lord Edward’s escape to the stair-
case. All this time Lord Edward was unhurt, his
opponent defenceless; nevertheless, he recklessly
wounded and brandished his awfully-constructed
double-edged dagger, worn for the express purpose of
carrying death to any assailant. This horrifying
scene lasted until the arrival of the soldiers, and was
terminated by Major Sirr discharging a pistol at Lord
Edward: the ball entered his shoulder; but even
then, so outrageous was he, that the military had to
cross their muskets, and force him down to the floor,
before he could be secured.”

According to the surgical evidence given on the
inquest on Fitzgerald, two shots must have been fired,
unless Sirr had put two bullets into his pistol; for

"2 -
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two were extracted from his shoulder, the inflamma-
tion and fever resulting from the wound thus inflicted
resulting in his death a few days after his arrest.
None of his relatives and friends were allowed to see
him until a few hours before. Lord Clare, in refusing
permission to Lord Henry Fitzgerald, one of the dying
prisoner’s brothers, said—*“ If I could explain to you
the grounds for this restriction, even you would
hardly be induced to condemn it as unnecessarily
harsh.” The mystery that lurked under these words
has never been cleared up. Even Leeson, the soli-
citor who made the prisoner’s will, was not allowed to
enter the prison, but communicated with his client
through the surgeon-general of prisons. Just before
his death, however, he was seen by Lord Henry Fitz-
gerald and an aunt, Lady Louisa Connolly. His
remains were interred in the vaults of St. Werburgh’s
Church, the only persons allowed to attend being
Lieutenant Stone, of the Derry militia, who had at-
tended him while in prison, by order of the authorities,
and an old servant of the Kitzgerald family, named
Shiel.

The betrayer of Lord Edward Fitzgerald is un-
known. Neilson, Reynolds, and Murphy have been
indicated as the probable sources of the information
acted upon by Major Sirr. Neilson had dined with
his fellow-conspirator, and left him somewhat abruptly.
Sirr said he received the information immediately be-
fore proceeding to Murphy’s house, and that he found
the door open. It has been surmised that the door
was intentionally left open by Neilson ; but there are
really no reasonable grounds for suspecting either
Neilson or Murphy, and this disposition of Irishmen
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to suspect each other of treachery upon the very
slightest grounds is one of the least pleasant features
of the national character which the history of the
" United Irishmen develops. That the information
was given by Reynolds is doubted even by Madden.
“ Reynolds,” he says, “had a kind of regard and re-
spect for Lord Edward ; for we find even the greatest
villains frequently manifest an involuntary apprecia-
tion of very exalted heroism or virtue. They feel as
if they were compelled, in spite of themselves, to reve-
rence great and generous qualities like those which
Lord Edward possessed. But though Reynolds; pro-
bably, would not denounce him himself, nor think it
decent to sell a man’s blood from whom if was &rown
he had received great and substantial acts of kindness,
Reynolds could have reconciled it to his very peculiarly
constituted mind and perverted moral sense to put an
acquaintance in whose welfare he felt an interest in
the way of doing a stroke of business in his own line,
and to enable his profégé to pocket a thousand
pounds for a little bit of information concerning Loru
Edward’s hiding-place on a particular occasion.”

The secret service accounts of the Castle contain an
entry which shows that the informer was neither
Neilson, Reynolds, nor Murphy. Under date June
20th, 1798, is the entry—*“F.H. Discovery of L.E.F.,
1000Z.” Madden supposes these initials to mean
John Hughes and Lord Edward Fitzgerald ; and there
is no doubt that the latter portion of the interpreta-
tion is correct. Hughes was a bookseller at Belfast,
who gave evidence before the secret committee, but
suppressed the fact that he had been arrested for
treason at Newry, in October, 1797, and was liberated
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on bail the same evening. He became barnkrupt
shortly afterwards, and early in June, 1798, was ar-
rested again. Of course, those who believe that, in
the secret service accounts, N. means Macnally, may
believe that F. stands therein for John; but, if the F.
is a mistake for J., the informer may have been Joel
Hulbert, a carver and gilder, and afterwards a toll-
collector on the Monastereven Canal, who, in August,
1808, informed Major Sirr of an intended meeting of
disaffected persons at a house at Kilmainham.

Byrne and the brothers Sheares were arrested on
the 21st, on the information of the man who had
enjoyed the hospitality of Henry Sheares on the pre-
ceding evening, and for whose entertainment the
daughter of his unsuspecting host had played the
barp. The only paper of any consequence that was
seized was an unfinished proclamation to the people of
Ireland, very violent in its tone, which was found on
the writing-desk of John Sheares, and appeared to
have been written by him.

For several days before the outbreak of the rebellion
there was an unusual movement among all classes of
the inhabitants of Dublin. Every day clerks were
missed from their desks, shop-assistants from their
counters, workmen from their places of labour. The
air grew thick with rumours of conspiracy and re-
bellion. An uneasy feeling, a presentiment of im-
pending danger, pervaded all classes. On the 23rd
Neilson was arrested in front of Newgate, while re-
connoitring that prison, with a view to an attack
for the purpose of liberating the United Irishmen
confined there, among whom was Lord Edward

Fitzgerald. A large body of conspirators was in
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readiness for the attack at a place called the Barley
Fields; but on receiving information of Neilson’s
arrest they dispersed.

During the evening and the early hours of the
night the prevailing uneasiness of the inhabitants of
Dublin culminated in the wildest excitement, as
persons whose business had called them into the
country brought into the city the news that all the
roads were intercepted by armed rebels, large bodies
of whom were said to be gathering at Santry on the
north, and Rathfarnham on the south. Drums beat
to arms, trumpets and bugles sounded, troops were in
motion, the whole population in a state of ill-suppressed
excitement. It was a dark night, and the lamps re-
mained unlighted, the men whose duty it was to light
them having disappeared, with thousands of others, to
join the rebel gatherings at Santry and Rathfarnham.

The military arrangements for the defence of the
city were so ill-contrived that an attack in force,
under able leaders, could scarcely have failed to be
successful. The greater part of the troops and
yeomanry were massed in Smithfield, a long and
wide street, ending on the quays of the Liffey, and
intersected by numerous narrow lanes. Sir Jonah
Barrington, who was an eye-witness of the scene, and
observes that the rebels lost a fine opportunity to cover
the field with distinguished corpses, says that the
troops “ were in some places so completely interwoven

. that a dragoon could not wield his sword without cut-
ting down a foot soldier; mnor a foot soldier discharge

his musket without knocking down a trooper. Five
hundred rebels, with long pikes, coming on rapidly

in the dark, might without difficulty have assailed
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the yeomen at once from five different points. . . . .
All the barristers, attorneys, merchants, bankers,
revenue officers, shopkeepers, students of the uni-
versity, doctors, apothecaries, and corporators of an
immense metropolis, in red coats, with a sprinkling of
parsons, all doubled up together amid bullock-stalls
and sheep-pens, awaiting in profound darkmess (not
with impatience) for invisible executioners to despatch
them without mercy, was not, abstractedly, a situa-
tion to engender much hilarity. Scouts now and
then came, only to report their ignorance. A running
buzz went round that th